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ChAiRmAN’S LETTER

dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board of directors of your XRF Scientific Limited, i am pleased to present to you the second Annual 
Report of your company.

This has been a year of continued growth and positive changes, which has given effect to the full integration of 
the company’s group operations and significant enhancements in the areas of marketing and product distribution 
functions.

The results for the year have improved significantly over the prior period, with increases (in rounded figures), of 
$2,100,000 in sales, up from $12,800,000 to $14,900,000, a 17% increase.

At the same time, earnings before tax are up by $950,000, an increase of 165%, from $577,000 to 1,528,000 and with 
profit after tax, after adjustment of a prior period unrealised tax benefit of $112,000, up from $395,000 to $921,000, an 
increase of 133%.

The financial position of the company is also very sound with current assets of $8,452,000, including cash of 
$3,627,000 and realisable debtors of $3,280,000 against current liabilities of only $1,638,000.  The overall net asset 
position stands at $13,604,000, net of only a small non current liability.

On the basis of this strong position, a first dividend has been declared and the directors will review annually, the 
company’s capacity to pay future dividends.

demand for group products remains strong and continued growth in sales is anticipated, with a sustainable growth 
in profit level, which in the absence of unforeseen circumstances is indicated to be in the range of 25% to 30% for the 
current fiscal year.

Product innovation and development has been successful, and will also continue. This has resulted in new patented 
products brought on stream during the year with a focus on new and improved products as an essential part of the 
company’s business plan, whilst maximising returns from new sales of existing products.

Since listing on ASX two years ago, your company has been through a process of very significant restructure and 
redirection. it has now emerged, effectively as a new corporate entity with very clearly focused business strategies, 
with growth objectives from both generic and potential merger based, opportunities.

The company is now well placed to continue to grow, enhance its profitability and return value to shareholders’ 
investment. The board of directors has a clear business vision and is confident of the company’s future. 

in my capacity of chairman, i am pleased to commend the efforts of my fellow directors and their management team. 
during a two year difficult period of change, the company has had the benefit of their most diligent efforts with 
results which speak for themselves.

i also thank our loyal shareholders, who have remained with the company throughout this past period of volatility in 
share prices and assure them that every effort will continue to be made to maintain value in your investment in this 
company.

The company will hold its annual general meeting on 6 November, with the venue and time as shown on the 
accompanying notice of meeting.  

i urge you to attend this meeting of your company and excercise your right to vote on the matters to be put before 
the meeting.

With Compliments

Paul Rengel
Chairman
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ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Your directors present their report on the company XRF Scientific Limited and its controlled entities for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2008.

diRECTORS

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Paul Rengel (Chairman)
david Brown
Kenneth Baxter
John Parsons
Terry Sweet 

directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

PRiNCiPAL ACTiViTY

The principal activity of the economic entity during the financial year was the business of manufacturing and 
marketing precious metal products, specialised chemicals and instruments for the scientific and analytical 
industries and in particular, the mining industry.

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

diVidENdS – XRF SCiENTiFiC LimiTEd ANd CONTROLLEd ENTiTiES

dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:

 2008 2007 
 $ $

 
Shareholders for the period of 01.07.06 to 30.10.06 - 7,569
dividends paid to minority interest - 212,055

 - 219,624

REViEW OF OPERATiONS

A review of the operations of the economic entity during the financial year and the results of those operations 
found that during the year, the economic entity continued to engage in its principal activity. The results and 
financial position are disclosed in the attached financial statements.

The consolidated entity has produced a net profit after income tax of $920,607 for the financial year ended 30 June 
2008 (2007 Restated: $394,658).

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008
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REViEW OF OPERATiONS continued

details of the results for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 are as follows:
   increase over 
 June 2008 June 2007 prior year  
  Restated  
 $ $ % 

Total revenue 14,997,021 12,812,236 17%
EBiTdA 1,602,805 541,326 196%
EBiT 1,378,701 397,760 246%
NPAT 920,607 394,658 133%
Basic earnings per share – (cents per share) 1.1 0.2
Earnings per share on a diluted basis – (cents per share) 1.1 0.2

OPERATiNG RESULTS

XRF is the leader within Australia in the product niche which it occupies.

The increase in revenue for 2008 has been achieved by supplying high quality products into a market place which has 
expanded significantly, and is expected to continue at a relatively high level.

For example, iron ore mining has been ramping up significantly over the recent past, and exports are forecast to go 
higher and be maintained at a high level over the next few years - the discovery, mining, blending and shipping of 
each tonne of iron ore requires laboratory analysis, which in turn requires the type of equipment, platinum laboratory 
ware and flux chemicals which we manufacture.

Our customers recognise and value the technical strength of XRF personnel. Our technical staff, which include 
chemists, a physicist, a metallurgist and engineers assist their customers with authorative advice and service to 
facilitate the sale of our technical products.

Profitability has been increased despite rising energy and labour costs, by careful control of costs of manufacture, 
improved financial controls, and by ensuring that all key personnel are committed to delivering profitable growth. 
despite historically high prices for platinum during the year, sales of platinum laboratory ware have been at record 
levels. This is particularly important as these sales invariably lead to repeat business, as the platinum ware requires 
periodic remanufacture.

Further organic growth is foreseen by the continuing expansion of our markets geographically for our traditional 
products, and for several innovations now at the point of commercialisation. Other new products are currently under 
development, for which we expect significant demand.

An example of such is our patented “Thulium” Flux, which is a chemical developed to facilitate nickel analysis, making 
it faster, cheaper and more accurate. Sales of this new product have increased steadily in 2008 over the previous year, 
when it was first brought to market.

Expansion of the group’s activities is now possible, as positive cash-flow from existing operations is now firmly 
established, and management systems are in place. Possible acquisitions can now be seriously considered.

SiGNiFiCANT ChANGES iN STATE OF AFFAiRS

in October 2007 the Company undertook a Rights issue on the basis of 1 share for every three shares held, at a price 
of 5 cents, to raise $1,182,616. These funds were used to supplement working capital, which was required due to 
expanding sales. details of expanded capital of the Company are shown elsewhere in this report including note 24.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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ANNUAL REPORT 2008

mATTERS SUBSEqUENT TO ThE ENd OF ThE FiNANCiAL YEAR

After consideration by the Board of the full year final results for the year ended 30 June 2008, along with current 
cash and future budgeted forecast, it has concluded that the Company is in a position to pay a maiden dividend to 
ordinary shareholders of 0.5 cents per share, fully franked.

The record date for the dividend is 21 October 2008, with the date of payment 28 October 2008.

LiKELY dEVELOPmENTS ANd EXPECTEd RESULTS OF OPERATiONS

Likely developments in the operations of the economic entity and the expected results of those operations in future 
financial year have not been included in this report as the disclosure of such information may lead to commercial 
prejudice for the economic entity. however, the directors remain optimistic that provided circumstances remain 
favourable, the company is well placed to continue its growth and maintain profitability.

ENViRONmENTAL iSSUES

The economic entity’s is subject to the environmental regulations under the laws of the Commonwealth or 
of a State or Territory in which it operates. The directors are not aware of any breaches of these regulations.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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iNFORmATiON ON diRECTORS

Paul Rengel – Chairman (non-executive)

Age – 68 years

qualifications – Bachelor of Commerce, Fellow of the institute of Chartered Accountants in 
Australia, Associate member of the Australian institute of Company directors, 
Associate member of the Australian institute of management.

Experience – 38 years in professional practice with international Accounting Firms in Corporate 
services including 20 years as a professional company director.

Other current directorship – Appointed to XRF Scientific Limited as Chairman on 5 July 2005, Chairman and 
non-executive director of two other public listed companies: Finbar Group Limited 
and Stonehenge metals Limited. Chairman and non-executive director: imETT 
queensland Pty Ltd (Large unlisted private company). Also director of several non 
reporting privately held companies.

Former directorship 
in last 3 years – Computronics (ASX listed company), Astop Biohealth Limited (Unlisted)

Special Responsibilities – Chairman 
member of Audit, Remuneraton and Corporate Governance Committees

No. of options – 500,000 options over ordinary shares in XRF Scientific Limited

No. of shares – 304,240 fully paid ordinary shares

David Brown – director (executive)

Age – 71 years

qualifications – Bachelor of Science, Bachelor of Economics

Experience – has 26 years experience in research and development and manufacturing of X-Ray 
flux chemicals, formerly chief chemist for Swan Brewery Co. Ltd, formerly Chairman 
of Scientific industries Council of WA.

Special Responsibilities – director X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd

No. of options – 601,744 options over ordinary shares in XRF Scientific Limited

No. of shares – 10,238,478 fully paid ordinary shares

Kenneth Baxter – director (non-executive)

Age – 64 years

qualifications – Bachelor of Economics, Fellow of Australian institute of management and Fellow 
of the Australian institute of Company directors.

Experience – Chairman of TFG international Pty Ltd, Non-Executive director of the hydro Electric 
Corporation of Tasmania, Computronics Corporation Ltd  and Air Niugini Ltd.

Special Responsibilities – member of Audit, Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committees

No. of options – 500,000 options over ordinary shares in XRF Scientific Limited

No. of shares – 13,334 fully paid ordinary shares

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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ANNUAL REPORT 2008

iNFORmATiON ON diRECTORS continued

John Parsons – director (executive)

Age – 56 years

qualifications – Certificate of industrial Electronics

Experience – Founder of modutemp Pty Ltd, he has over 30 years experience in the design, 
manufacture and repair of electrical and gas furnaces, power and temperature 
control system.

Other current directorships – None

Former directorship 
in last 3 years – Project development and supervision

Special Responsibilities – director modutemp Pty Ltd

No. of options – 697,674 options over ordinary shares in XRF Scientific Limited

No. of shares – 7,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares

Terry Sweet – director (executive)

Age – 61 years

qualifications – Tertiary qualifications in analytical chemistry, is a former Fellow of Australian 
institute of Company directors.

Experience – Served on the Boards of various public and private companies, including: 
Western Biotechnology Ltd, Scientific Services Ltd, Black mountain Gold Ltd, 
Jetset Travelworld Ltd.

Other current directorships – Private Companies only

Former directorship 
in last 3 years – Private Companies only

Special Responsibilities – Effective of 3 July 2007 appointed as managing director 
member of Audit, Remuneration and Corporate Governance committee

No. of options – 3,000,000 options over ordinary shares in XRF Scientific Limited

No. of shares – 3,044,273 fully paid ordinary shares

COmPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is mr Vance Stazzonelli B.Comm, who is a practising accountant.

mr Stazzonelli was appointed to the position of company secretary in June 2008 following the resignation of ms Kiran 
Badlani.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



8

OThER KEY mANAGEmENT

Gino Manfredi (General Manager – Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd)
A senior manager in the precious metal industry for approximately 25 years, he is very experienced in the 
administration, sales and marketing systems in this industry. in 1991 he participated in the start up of AGR industrial 
products. AGR industrial products was established to give different options to value-add precious metals it refined.  
in ten years this company grew to become the premier precious metal company in Australia, and Analytical Platinum 
Supplies had its genesis from AGR.

Stephen Prossor (General Manager – Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd)
manages Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd, he is the operations manager for Victoria within the instrument 
division of the company. he has 14 years experience in the design, manufacture and marketing of scientific 
instruments for X-Ray Fluorescence and iCP-AE analysis sample preparation techniques.

Allen Parsons – (General Manager - Precious Metals Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd)   
The founder of Precious metals Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd and the group’s metallurgist, he is a former director of 
Prudential West Ltd, leading role in the design and development of new technologies for laboratory furnaces, co-
inventor of a silver based water treatment system.

mEETiNGS OF diRECTORS

The number of meetings held by the Board of directors including meetings of the committees of the Board and the 
number of meetings attended by each of the directors during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 were as follows:

 Full meetings of directors meetings of committees – Audit,  
  Corporate Governance &   
  Remuneration 

 A B A B

Paul Anthony Rengel 12 12 2 1
david Brown 12 12 ** **
Kenneth Baxter 12 12 2 2
John Graham Parsons 12 12 ** **
Terry Sweet 12 11 2 2

A = meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the Committee during the year
B = meetings attended
** = Not a member of the relevant Committee

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited)

(a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration.

Non-executive directors
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities 
of, the directors. Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed periodically by the Board.

The Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of non-executive directors based on 
comparative roles in the external market. The Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to 
determination of his own remuneration. The Chairman’s remuneration is inclusive of committee fee.

Non-executive directors may receive share options.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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ANNUAL REPORT 2008

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

Directors’ fees
The current base remuneration was last reviewed december 2005. The maximum currently stands at $62,000 per 
annum and was approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting in december 2005.    
     
 From 1 July 2007 From 1 July 2006 
Base Fees to 30 June 2008 to 30 June 2007

Chairman $32,000 $32,000
Non-Executive directors $30,000 $30,000

it is the Board’s policy not to pay directors additional fees.

Executive pay
The executive pay and reward framework has three components:

•	 Base	pay	and	benefits,	including	superannuation
•	 Short-term	performance	incentives,	and
•	 Long-term	incentives	through	participation	in	the	XRF	Scientific	Limited	Employee	Option	Plan.

it is Board policy to review key management annually, and adjust such compensation taking into account 
the manager’s performance, the performance of the entity which he or she manages, and the performance 
of the group of companies.

Where appropriate there is a direct link between financial performance (profit or growth) to key manager’s 
compensation by way of bonus.  This method is accepted by the Board as being an appropriate incentive for 
encouraging key management personnel to reach targets that are in excess of budgeted growth.

A bonus scheme is also in place for the managing director whereby if certain milestones are reached in the 
Company’s share price, an amount will become payable whereby 2,000,000 performance shares that have been 
issued will convert into ordinary shares. details of the milestones in the company’s share price have not been 
disclosed to avoid prejudice against the company.

(i) Base Pay
Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay. Base pay for 
executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is competitive with the market. An executive 
pay is reviewed on promotion.

(ii) Benefits
Executives may receive benefits including car/mileage allowance.

(iii) Superannuation
Retirement benefits of 9% of the base pay are delivered to the individual super fund of the executives choice.

(iv) Short-term performance incentives
Bonuses may be paid on the performance of the individual entity based on full year performance for the 
financial year. in most instances bonus payments are based on the achievement of a percentage of that years 
budget and targets/objectives being met. A short term incentive (STi) pool is available for executives during the 
annual review, which is subject to caps that are in place.

Using a profit target ensures variable reward is only available when value has been created for shareholders and 
when profit is consistent with the business plan. Specific details of key management personnel bonuses can be 
found under the service contracts section of this report.

(v) Long-term incentives
Long-term incentives may be provided to certain employees via the XRF Scientific Limited Option Plan,  
see page 15 for further information.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

 (b) details of remuneration 

(i) Non-Executive
Paul Anthony Rengel Chairman
Kenneth Peter Baxter

(ii) Executive
david Brown Executive director X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd
John Graham Parsons Executive director modutemp Pty Ltd    
Terry Sweet Executive director managing director

(iii) Other Key management Personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group:

Gino manfredi General manager Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd
Stephen Prossor General manager Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd
Allen Parsons General manager Precious metals Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd
Bruce Chadwick General manger Laser Analysis  Technologies Pty Ltd
Kiran Badlani (to 15/02/2008) Chief Financial Officer XRF Scientific Limited

Percentage of performance related compensation of total remuneration

Certain key management personnel are paid performance bonuses in addition to set remuneration amounts. 
The Board of directors have set these bonuses to encourage growth and profitability. Bonuses are paid as per 
the conditions set out on page 9.

Fixed Remuneration

The level of fixed remuneration is set as to provide base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the 
position and its competitive market. Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the remuneration committee 
based on market rates, as well as having regard to the Company, divisional and individual performance. The 
fixed remuneration of the give most highly remuneration executives and other key management personnel is 
contained in information that follows.

Variable Remuneration

To assist in achieving the objective of retaining a high quality executive team, the remuneration committee links 
the nature and amount of the executive emoluments to the Company’s financial and operating performance. 

Options issued as part of total remuneration

Options are issued to directors and employees as part of their remuneration. The options issued to employees 
are based upon criteria outlined on page 15 of this report. The purpose of the issue of these options is to align 
the interests of directors, employees and shareholders. 3,000,000 options were issued to the managing director 
during the year as outlined in various other parts of this report.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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ANNUAL REPORT 2008

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

(b) details of remuneration continued

Amounts of remuneration
details of the remuneration of directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related 
Party disclosures) of XRF Scientific Limited are set out in the following:

Short-term Benefits
Post-

employment 
benefits

Other Long-term Benefits

2008

Cash  
Salary

Non-
monetary 
benefits

Bonuses
Super-annuation 

on Guarantee 
Contribution

Long  
Service 
Leave

Shares  
and 

units

Options  
&  

rights
Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors

Paul Anthony Rengel  

Chairman
32,010 – – – – – – 32,010

Kenneth Peter Baxter 27,272 – – 3,419 – – – 30,691

Sub-total non-executive 
directors

59,282 – – 3,419 – – – 62,701

Executive directors

Terry Sweet* 124,579 – – 11,189 2,124 – 45,207 183,099

david Brown 123,852 – – 11,146 1,930 – – 136,928

John Graham Parsons 123,852 – – 11,146 1,930 – – 136,928

Sub-total executive directors 372,283 – – 33,481 5,984 – 45,207 456,955

Other key management personnel

Gino manfredi^ 70,927 22,650 35,5061 26,422 2,691 – – 158,196

Stephen Prossor^ 71,893 12,408 – 35,578 267 – – 120,146

Allen Parsons^ 35,999 – – 73,999 8,403 – – 118,401

dr Bruce Chadwick^ 83,182 – – 16,879 – – – 100,061

Kiran Badlani^* 76,875 – – 6,574 – – – 83,449

Sub-total key management 
personnel compensation

338,876 35,058 35,506 159,452 11,361 – – 580,253

Total 770,441 35,058 35,506 196,352 17,345 – 45,207 1,099,909

^ denotes one of the 5 highest paid executives of the Group, as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001.
* denotes XRF Scientific Limited personnel.
1 granted on 10 August 2007 in relation to Analytical Platinum Supplies’ performance in the 2007 financial year, as per the conditions 
outlined in service contract section of this report.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

(b) details of remuneration continued

Short-term Benefits
Post-

employment 
benefits

Other Long-term Benefits

2007

Cash 
Salary

Non-
monetary 
benefits

Bonuses

Super-
annuation on 

Guarantee 
Contribution

Long 
Service 
Leave

Shares 
and 

units

Options  
& rights

Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors

Paul Anthony Rengel  
Chairman

32,000 – – – – 45,636 3,585 81,221

Kenneth Peter Baxter 18,000 7,850 – 6,000 – – 3,585 35,435

Terry Sweet* 7,500 – – – – – – 7,500

Sub-total non-executive 
directors

57,500 7,850 – 6,000 – 45,636 7,170 124,156

Executive directors

Peter higgins 115,320 8,533 – 11,147 30,964 – 2,814 168,778

Jorg Georg hubert metz 97,365 3,552 – 9,083 409 – 2,814 113,223

Allen Parsons 61,882 9,204 – 5,569 32 – 3,751 80,438

david Brown 115,906 – – 10,431 157 – 4,314 130,808

John Graham Parsons 116,053 7,301 – 10,445 120 – 5,002 138,921

Sub-total executive 
directors

506,526 28,590 – 46,675 31,682 – 18,695 632,168

Other key management personnel

Peter mcintyre 1,490 – – – – – – 1,490

Gino manfredi^ 89,489 – 33,873 8,054 30,104 – – 161,520

Stephen Prossor^ 79,410 21,507 – 9,083 30,899 – 2,814 143,713

dr Bruce Chadwick^ 87,596 – – 7,884 334 – – 95,814

Kiran Badlani^* 91,502 – – 8,532 265 – – 100,299

James Foster^* 65,481 – – 4,715 – – – 70,196

Sub-total key 
management personnel 
compensation

414,968 21,507 33,873 38,268 61,602 – 2,814 573,032

Total 978,994 57,947 33,873 90,943 93,284 45,636 28,679 1,329,356

^ denotes one of the 5 highest paid executives of the Group, as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001.
* denotes XRF Scientific Limited personnel.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

(b) details of remuneration (audited) continued

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:

Fixed Remuneration At risk  - STi At risk - LTi

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Executive directors

Terry Sweet 75% 100% – – 25% –

david Brown 100% 100% – – – –

John Graham Parsons 100% 100% – – – –

Other key management personnel

Gino manfredi 78% 79% 22% 21% – –

Stephen Prossor 100% 100% – – – –

Allen Parsons 100% 100% – – – –

dr Bruce Chadwick 100% 100% – – – –

Kiran Badlani 100% 100% – – – –

 Shareholder Wealth

 The following is a summary of key shareholder wealth statistics for the Company over the past 2 years while it  
 has been listed on the ASX.

EBiT Earnings Per Share
dividends Per 

Share
Share Price

market 
Capitalisation

$ Cents Cents Cents $

2006/07 397,760 0.20 – 12 8,515,051

2007/08 1,378,701 1.10 – 9.5 8,703,110

Service Agreements

Remuneration for the majority of key executives are set out in service agreements, which are detailed below.

Terry Sweet, Managing Director
Terms of agreement - 1 year commencing 2 July 2008, which may be extended by mutual agreement with the 
Board of directors.          
Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $135,000 to be reviewed annually 
by the remuneration committee.  Performance bonus payable whereby if certain milestones are reached in the 
Company’s share price, an amount will become payable by consideration of the issue of ordinary shares.   
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to the remaining contractual period.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



14

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

(b) details of remuneration continued

David Brown, Executive Director & Manager of X-Ray Flux 
Terms of agreement - 2 years commencing 30 October 2006, which may be extended by mutual agreement with 
the Board of directors.          
Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $135,000 to be reviewed annually 
by the remuneration committee.         
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to a 3 month written notice period.

John Parsons, Executive Director & Manager of Modutemp 
Terms of agreement - Ongoing commencing 31 October 2006       
Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $135,000 to be reviewed annually 
by the remuneration committee.         
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to the statutory amount stipulated by the legislation of the time.

Gino Manfredi, Manager of Analytical Platinum Supplies
Terms of agreement - Ongoing commencing June 2007       
Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $120,000 to be reviewed annually 
by the remuneration committee. A performance bonus based on the achievement of a percentage of that years 
budget and targets/objectives being met, which is part of the STi pool for the branch.   
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to the statutory amount stipulated by the legislation of the time.

Allen Parsons, Manager of Precious Metals Engineering
Terms of agreement - 2 years commencing 30 October 2006, which may be extended by mutual agreement with 
the Board of directors.           
Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $120,000.    
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to 12 months remuneration being received at the level at the date of termination or as required by Section 200g 
of the Corporations Act, whichever is lesser, plus for a minimum 3 month written notice period.

Steve Prosser
Terms of agreement - 2 years commencing 30 October 2006, which may be extended by mutual agreement with 
the Board of directors           
Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of $120,000   
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to 12 months remuneration being received at the level at the date of termination or as required by Section 200g 
of the Corporations Act, whichever is lesser, plus for a minimum 3 month written notice period.

Kiran Badlani, Chief Financial Officer
Agreement was terminated in February 2008 on resignation. Base Salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the 
year ended 30 June 2008 of $120,000.

Dr Bruce Chadwick
Agreement was terminated in July 2008 on resignation. Base Salary inclusive of superannuation, for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 of $100,000.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

Share-based compensation 
The terms and conditions of each grant the employee option plan is designed to provide long-term incentives 
for executives to deliver long-term shareholders returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which 
only vest if certain performance standards are met and the employees are still employed by the Group at the 
end of the vesting period. Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual 
right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits. The terms and conditions of options 
affecting remuneration in this or future reporting periods are as follows:

 date vested   Value per option 
Grant date and exercisable Expiry date Exercise price at grant date

23 November 2007 23 November 2008 31 October 2010 $0.16 $0.025

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share 14 days after the release of the half-yearly 
and financial results of the Group to the market.

On 31 may 2006, the company provided for options as remuneration as set out below for each director and key 
management personnel. When exercised, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of XRF Scientific 
Limited.  in addition 3,000,000 options were provided to the managing director as per the resolution passed at 
the last AGm, the details of which can be found at note 36 of the financial report.

Name
Number of options 

granted during the year
Number of options vested during 

the year

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Directors of XRF Scientific Limited

Paul Anthony Rengel – – 500,000 – 500,000 –

Kenneth Peter Baxter – – 500,000 – 500,000 –

david Brown – – 601,744 – 601,744 –

John Graham Parsons – – 697,674 – 697,674 –

Terry Sweet 3,000,000 – – – – –

Other key management personnel of the Group

Gino manfredi – – – – – –

Steve Prosser – – 392,442 – 392,442 –

Allen Parsons – – 523,256 – 523,256 –

dr Bruce Chadwick – – – – – –

Kiran Badlani – – – – – –

No shares were issued on the exercise of remuneration options.
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diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

REmUNERATiON REPORT (Audited) continued

Additional Information

For each grant of options included in the tables on page 15, the percentage vested in the current and prior 
financial years, and the percentage that was forfeited in 2008 because the person did not meet the service and 
performance criteria is set out below.

Year 
granted

Vested Forfeited 

Financial 
years in which 
options may 

vest

minimum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest

maximum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest

% % $ $

Directors

Paul Anthony Rengel 2006 100 – – – –

Kenneth Peter Baxter 2006 100 – – – –

david Brown 2006 100 – – – –

John Graham Parsons 2006 100 – – – –

Terry Sweet 2008 – – 30 June  2009 Nil 75,000

Peter higgins 2006 – 100 – – –

Jorg Georg hubert metz 2006 – 100 – – –

Other key management personnel

Gino manfredi – – – – – –

Stephen Prossor 2006 100 – – – –

Allen Parsons 2006 100 – – – –

dr Bruce Chadwick – – – – – –

Kiran Badlani – – – – – –

Further details relating to options are set out below:

Remuneration 
consisting of 

options

Value at grant 
date

Value at 
exercise date

Value at lapse 
date

% $ $ $

Directors

Paul Anthony Rengel – – – –

Kenneth Peter Baxter – – – –

david Brown – – – –

John Graham Parsons – – – –

Terry Sweet 25 75,000 – –

Peter higgins – – – –

Jorg Georg hubert metz – – – –

Other key management personnel

Gino manfredi – – – –

Stephen Prossor – – – –

Allen Parsons – – – –

dr Bruce Chadwick – – – –

Kiran Badlani – – – –
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LOANS TO diRECTORS ANd EXECUTiVES

No loans were made to directors and executive during the financial years ending 30 June 2008 or 30 June 2007.

OPTiONS

Unissued ordinary shares of XRF Scientific Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

date options  Option Expiry issued price  Number 
granted holders date of shares under option

31 may 2006 Employee options 30 June 2010 20 cents 3,215,116
28 August 2006 Consultant 30 June 2010 16 cents 2,800,000
28 August 2006 Sponsoring broker 30 June 2010 16 cents 1,500,000
21 November 2006 Consultant 31 January 2009 20 cents 1,000,000  
23 November 2007 managing director 31 October 2010 16 cents 3,000,000 

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the company or any 
other entity.

(i) Shares may be issued on the exercise of options. No shares were issued on the exercise of options.

iNSURANCE OF OFFiCERS

during the financial year, the company paid insurance premiums to insure the directors and secretaries of the 
company and its Australian – based controlled entities, and the general managers of each of the divisions of 
the Group.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be 
brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments arising 
from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities 
that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of 
their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the 
company. it is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal 
costs and those relating to other liabilities.

PROCEEdiNGS ON BEhALF OF OR iNVOLViNG ThE ECONOmiC ENTiTY

No person has applied for leave of Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for 
the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

NON AUdiT SERViCES

details of the non audit services provided by the Company’s external auditor BdO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) 
Pty Ltd during the year ended 30 June 2008 are outlined in the Audit Services section of this directors Report on page 
18. Based on advice from the Company’s Audit Committee, the directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001. The nature and the scope of each type of non audit service provided means that auditor independence was not 
compromised.

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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AUdiT SERViCES

during the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, 
its related practices and non-related audit firms:
 Consolidated

 2008 2007 
 $ $

(a) Assurance and other services

William Buck
Audit and review of financial reports – 95,000
due diligence services – 25,000 
   
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd   
Audit and review of financial reports 98,966 – 
Taxation and assistance with 2007 Annual Report 102,559 –

Total remuneration for audit and other services 201,525 120,000

The Board is satisfied that the auditors of the Company, BdO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd remains 
independent.           
            
            
AUdiTOR’S iNdEPENdENCE dECLARATiON

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out on page 19. 

AUdiTOR

BdO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors.

T Sweet 
managing director

 
Perth 
24 September 2008

diRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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AUdiTOR’S iNdEPENdENCE dECLARATiON
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The Board of directors is responsible for the overall corporate governance of XRF Scientific Limited, and is committed 
to the principles underpinning best practice in corporate governance, applied in a manner that meets ASX standards 
and best addresses the directors’ accountability to shareholders. Whilst the Company will endeavour to comply with 
all of the guidelines under the ASX Corporate Governance Recommendations, the Board considers that the Company 
is not currently of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity, to justify the additional expense of compliance with all 
recommendations.

A brief summary of XRF Scientifics’ main corporate governance policies and practices is outlined below. in addition, 
the following policies and procedures have been adopted;

•	 Role	of	the	Board
•	 Structure	of	the	Board
•	 Responsible	Decision	Making	and	Code	of	Conduct
•	 Safeguarding	integrity	in	Financial	Reporting
•	 Timely	and	Balanced	Disclosure
•	 Risk	Recognition	and	Management
•	 Board	Performance
•	 Remuneration	Responsibility
•	 Securities	Trading	Policy

ThE BOARd OF diRECTORS

The Board will comprise both executive and non-executive directors. Presently there are two non-executive directors 
(both independent) and three executive directors. The chairman is an independent director, and the role of CEO is 
excersiced by the managing director. Whilst it is XRF Scientifics’ aim to have a majority of non-executive directors on 
the Board, at the Company’s current stage of development the inclusion of a majority of executive directors, who 
have in-depth knowledge of the business which they manage, is considered advantageous.

The membership of the Board, its activities and composition is subject to periodic review. The criteria for determining 
the identification and appointment of a suitable candidate for the Board shall include the quality of the individual, 
experience and achievement, credibility within the Company’s scope of activities, intellectual ability to contribute to 
the Board’s duties and ability to undertake Board duties and responsibilities. The Company’s board is responsible for 
such nominations and appointment rather than a seperate committee.

COmmiTTEES OF ThE BOARd

The Board has established the following committees:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three Board members, two being the independent non-executive directors, the 
managing director and the Company Secretary. The Chairman of the committee is not the Chairman of the Board. The 
primary responsibility of this Committee is to monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Company, and to 
review and monitor the Company’s internal financial control system. There is no formal charter for this committee.

Remuneration and Governance Committee
The Remuneration and Governance Committee comprises three Board members, being the non-executive directors 
and the managing director. The primary responsibility of this Committee is to discharge the Board’s responsibilities in 
relation to remuneration of the Company’s executives, including securities and benefit plans. Further information on 
directors’ and executives’ remuneration is set out in the Remuneration Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE diSCLOSURE
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ROLE OF ThE BOARd

The management and control of the business is vested in the Board. The Board’s primary responsibility 
is to oversee the Company’s business activities and management for the benefit of the shareholders.

The Board strives to create Shareholder value and ensure that Shareholder’s funds are safeguarded.

The key responsibilities of the Board include:

•	 The	overall	corporate	governance	of	the	Company	including	its	strategic	direction	and	financial	objectives,	
establishing goals for management and monitoring the attainment of these goals;

•	 Approving	strategic	plans,	key	operational	and	financial	matters,	as	well	as	major	investment	and	divestment	
proposals;

•	 Approving	the	nominations	of	Directors	to	the	Board	and	appointment	of	key	executives;

•	 Evaluating	and	rewarding	senior	management	and	ensuring	executive	succession	planning;

•	 Ensuring	that	the	Directors	have	a	good	understanding	of	the	Company’s	business;

•	 Ensuring	Management	maintains	a	sound	system	of	internal	controls	to	safeguard	the	assets	of	the	Company;

•	 Monitoring	the	performance	of	the	Company;

•	 Appointing	and	removing	Managing	Director	(or	equivalent);

•	 Ratifying	the	appointment	and,	where	appropriate,	the	removal	of	the	chief	financial	officer	(or	equivalent)	
and/or the company secretary;

•	 Reviewing	and	ratifying	systems	of	risk	management	and	internal	compliance	and	control,	codes	of	conduct	
and legal compliance, safety and occupational health policies, community and environmental issues;

•	 Monitoring	senior	management’s	performance	and	implementation	of	strategy,	and	ensuring	appropriate	
resources are available; and

•	 Approving	and	monitoring	the	progress	of	major	capital	expenditure,	capital	management,	and	acquisitions	
and divestitures, together with any recommendations from management associated with these activities.

POLiCiES ANd PROCEdURES

Continuous Disclosure Policy
The Company has adopted a continuous disclosure policy so as to comply with its continuous disclosure obligations 
of ASX. The aims of this policy are to:

•	 Report	continuous	disclosure	matters	to	the	Board;

•	 Assess	new	information	and	co-ordinate	any	disclosure	or	releases	to	the	ASX,	or	any	advice	required	
in relation to that information, in a timely manner;

•	 Provide	an	audit	trail	of	the	decisions	regarding	disclosure	to	substantiate	compliance	with	the	Company’s	
continuous disclosure obligations; and

•	 Ensure	that	employees,	consultants,	associated	entities	and	advisors	of	the	Company	understand	the	
obligations to bring material information to the attention of the Board.

Securities Trading Policy
The Company has adopted a policy that imposes certain restrictions on directors and employees trading in the 
securities of the Company. The restrictions have been imposed to prevent trading in contravention of the insider 
trading provisions of the Corporations Act.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE diSCLOSURE continued
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POLiCiES ANd PROCEdURES continued

Risk Management Policy
The Board has developed and implemented policies and practices which ensure that the material risks facing 
the Company are adequately identified, assessed, monitored, and managed throughout the whole organisation. 
These include:

•	 Comprehensive	Board	papers	containing	relevant	operational,	strategic,	financial	and	legal	information	
circulated to directors before each meeting;

•	 Actual	results	for	the	Company	presented	to	the	Board	at	each	meeting,	compared	against	budget	and	forecast,	
with revised forecasts if required;

•	 Financial	authority	limits	set	by	the	Board;	and

•	 Insurance	cover	appropriate	to	the	size	and	nature	of	the	Company’s	operations	to	reduce	the	financial	
impact of any significant insurable losses.

Shareholder Communications Strategy
The Board aims to ensure that Shareholders are kept informed of all major developments affecting the Company.

information is communicated to Shareholders through:

•	 Continuous	disclosure	in	the	form	of	public	announcements	on	the	ASX;

•	 Annual	and	quarterly	reports	to	Shareholders;

•	 Investor	briefings;

•	 The	Managing	Director’s	address	delivered	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting;	and

•	 Notices	of	all	meetings	of	Shareholders	and	explanatory	notes	of	proposed	resolutions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE diSCLOSURE continued
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Sales revenue 5 14,706,204 12,581,863 30,817 17,149
Other revenues 5 290,817 230,373 566,592 284,582

  14,997,021 12,812,236 597,409 301,731

Cost of sales  (9,224,893) (7,511,644) (16,463) (20,938)
marketing expenses  (95,467) (356,727) (15,561) (24,032)
distribution expenses  (10,727) (15,586) (804) (7,467)
Occupancy expenses  (308,268) (279,455) (38,903) (13,208)
Employee benefits expense  (2,232,160) (2,234,724) (724,189) (288,611)
motor vehicles expense  (66,545) (77,679) (2,726) (124)
depreciation & amortisation 7 (224,124) (143,566) (17,056) (10,729)
Administration expenses  (1,222,424) (1,459,456) (611,177) (718,041)
impairment losses 7 – (133,416) (60,984) (133,416)

  (13,384,608) (12,212,253) (1,487,863) (1,216,567)
Finance cost 7 (84,013) (23,404) (47,700) –

Profit/(loss) before income tax  1,528,400 576,579 (938,154) (914,835)
income tax revenue (expense) 8 (607,793) (181,921) 300,503 173,178

Profit/(loss) after income tax  920,607 394,658 (637,651) (741,657)
Profit attributable to minority interest  
and others  – (280,491) – –

Profit/(loss) attributable to Equity holders  
of XRF Scientific Limited  920,607 114,167 (637,651) (741,658)

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 38 1.1 0.2   
diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  1.1 0.2   
      
The above income Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

iNCOmE STATEmENTS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



24

 Consolidated Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,626,598 3,679,821 3,428,082 2,647,095
Trade and other receivables 10 3,280,374 2,618,689 1,034,225 1,058,229
inventories 11 1,350,021 1,130,279 – 15,086
Other assets 12 194,652 102,130 21,398 48,305

Total Current Assets  8,451,645 7,530,919 4,483,705 3,768,715

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 928,832 744,824 34,885 43,842
intangible assets 16 5,620,642 5,495,233 87,268 91,861
deferred tax asset 15 653,817 752,388 455,351 619,768
Other financial assets 13 – 523,738 6,251,647 6,775,385

Total Non-Current Assets  7,203,291 7,516,183 6,829,151 7,530,856

Total Assets  15,654,936 15,047,102 11,312,856 11,299,571

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 17 954,550 1,233,101 1,340,382 838,750
Borrowings 18 41,536 925,121 – 818,478
Provisions 19 476,556 253,074 203,398 10,820
Other current liabilities 20 197,036 75,806 – –
Current income tax liability  (31,308) 116,385 (76,718) (358,514)

Total Current Liabilities  1,638,370 2,603,487 1,467,062 1,309,534

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings 21 94,362 40,835 – –
deferred tax liability 22 79,558 11,652 176 10,717
Provisions 23 238,618 206,528 4,950 –

Total Non-Current Liabilities  412,538 259,015 5,126 10,717

Total Liabilities  2,050,908 2,862,502 1,472,188 1,320,251

Net Assets  13,604,028 12,184,600 9,840,668 9,979,320

EQUITY
issued capital 24 10,894,963 10,441,170 10,894,963 10,441,171
Reserves 25(a) 580,517 535,490 580,517 535,310
Retained profits/(Accumulated Losses) 25(b) 2,128,548 1,207,940 (1,634,812) (997,161)

Total Equity  13,604,028 12,184,600 9,840,668 9,979,320

The above Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
 

BALANCE ShEETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2008
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Total equity at the beginning of the  
financial year  12,195,420 8,411,595 9,990,140 7,056,913 
Restatement to opening balances  (10,820) 25,000 (10,820) 25,000 
Restated total equity at the beginning
of the financial year  12,184,600 8,436,595 9,979,320 7,081,913
Adjustment to minority interest  – 206,649 – –

  12,184,600 8,643,244 9,979,320 7,081,913

Net income recognised directly in equity  – – – –
Profit (loss) for the year  920,607 394,658 (637,651) (741,658)

Total recognised income and  
expense for the year  920,607 394,658 (637,651) (741,658)

Restatement of prior year earnings
Previous net/(loss) profit after tax  – 517,115 – (619,201) 
Adjustments as per note 6(d) 6(d) – (122,457) – (122,457)

Restated net profit after tax  – 394,658 – (741,658)

     

Transactions with equity holders in their  
capacity as equity holders:

Contributions of equity, net of  
transaction costs 24 953,794 3,123,889 953,792 3,123,889
dividends provided for or paid 26 – (219,624) – (7,569)
Share options 25 45,207 522,745 45,207 522,745
Exchange differences on translation  
of foreign operations 25 (180) 180 – –
Acquisition of minority interest  – (280,491) – – 
Reduction of capital 24 (500,000) – (500,000) –

  498,821 3,146,699 498,999 3,639,065

Total equity at the end  
of the financial year  13,604,028 12,184,600 9,840,668 9,979,320

 
Total recognised income and expense  
for the year is attributable to:

  members of XRF Scientific Ltd 25 920,607 114,167 (637,651) (741,658)
  minority interest  – 280,491 – –

  920,607 394,658 (637,651) (741,658)

The above Statements of Recognised income and Expenses should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes.

STATEmENTS OF RECOGNiSEd iNCOmE ANd EXPENSES
FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers   13,842,201 12,619,299 331,084 169,034
Payments to suppliers and employees   (13,135,944) (12,358,183) (950,591) (1,004,008)
Borrowing costs  (76,287) (23,404) (47,700) – 
Other revenue  56,643 – 761 –
income taxes paid  (566,126) (369,819) (118,342) 14,452
interest received  233,712 182,988 206,042 135,074

Net cash inflow (outflow) from  
operating activities 34 354,199 50,881 (578,746) (685,448)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (415,433) (310,529) (3,412) (41,667)
Proceeds/(Payments) from/for other  
financial assets  – – – –
Payment for intangible assets  (208,592) (65,344) – –
Proceeds from sale of financial assets (listed shares) 12,516 – 12,516 – 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment – 124,133 – –

Net cash inflow (outflow) from  
investing activities  (611,509) (251,740) 9,104 (41,667)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares and other  
equity securities (net of transaction costs)  1,063,543 3,728,249 1,063,543 3,356,906
Proceeds from borrowings  – 81,382 – 47,874
Repayment of borrowings  (859,456) (133,095) (847,874) (37,264)
dividends paid to minority shareholder and others – (86,877) – (7,569)
Borrowings from subsidiaries  – – 1,134,960 –

  204,087 3,589,659 1,350,629 3,359,947
Net increase in cash  
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the financial year  3,679,821 159,897 2,647,095 14,263 
Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  – 131,124 – –
Net Cash movement  (53,223) 3,388,800 780,987 2,632,832

Cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the financial year  3,626,598 3,679,821 3,428,082 2,647,095

The above Cash Flow Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CASh FLOW STATEmENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial report of XRF Scientific Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 24 September 2008 and covers XRF Scientific Limited as an 
individual entity as well as the consolidated entity consisting of XRF Scientific Limited and its subsidiaries as 
required by the Corporations Act 2001.

The financial report is presented in the Australian currency.

XRF Scientific Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded 
on the Australian Stock Exchange.

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent issues Group 
interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.

Compliance with IFRSs
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian Equivalents to international Financial Reporting Standards 
(“AiFRSs”). Compliance with AiFRSs ensures that the Financial Report complies with international Financial 
Reporting Standards (iFRSs).

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation 
of the financial report.

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of XRF Scientific 
Limited (“company” or “parent company”) as at 30 June 2008 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then 
ended. XRF Scientific Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or 
the consolidated entity. 

A controlled entity is an entity XRF Scientific Limited has the power to control the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

All controlled entities have a 30 June financial year end. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities 
that comprise the consolidated entity, being the company (the parent company) and its subsidiaries as 
defined in Accounting Standard AASB 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’. Consistent 
accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured 
at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of 
the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. if, after reassessment, the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit and loss in 
the period of acquisition. 

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on 
which the company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to control such entities. All inter 
company balances and transactions between entities in the economic entity, including any unrealised profits or 
losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

 The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with equity owners 
of the Group. For purchases from minority interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is deducted from equity. Gains 
or losses on disposals to minority interests are also recorded in equity. For disposals to minority interests, 
differences between any proceeds received and the relevant share of minority interests are also recorded to 
equity.

(c) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are 
subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment 
is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and is subject to 
risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

(d) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each group entity is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year end exchange rate.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement, 
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. The differences taken 
to equity are recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction, and are recognised in the profit and loss. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the 
fair value was determined.

Group Companies           
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
currency economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into 
the presentation currency as follows.

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
balance sheet. income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates. All 
resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

(e) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as 
revenue are net of returns, trade allowances and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue 
is recognised for major business activities as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to 
the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 
Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of goods to the 
customer.

(ii) interest income
interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 
the financial assets.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

(iii) dividends
dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. 

(iv) Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of a contract. Stage of 
completion is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labour 
hours for each contract. When the contract outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to 
the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

(f) Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current years taxable income based 
on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to 
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or 
substantially enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of 
deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is 
made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred 
tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other 
than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable 
profit or loss.

deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity.

XRF Scientific Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. The head entity, XRF Scientific Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group account for their own deferred tax amounts.  Current tax is accounted for by the parent 
entity, which is then shared to each of the members of the tax consolidated group, as per the tax sharing 
agreement. in addition to its own share of current and deferred tax amounts, XRF Scientific Limited also 
recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. Assets or liabilities arising 
under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from or 
payable to other entities in the Group. details about the tax funding agreement are disclosed in note 8.

(g) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the entity has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases (note 30(b)(ii)). Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception 
at the lower of fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the income statement 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases (note 30(b)(i)). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the lease. Lease income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

 (h) Business combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity 
instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the fair value of the instruments is 
their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated 
that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other 
evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on 
the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill (refer to note 1(p)). if the cost of acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income 
statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future 
are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

(i) Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. 

Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash flows 
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held 
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities 
on the balance sheet.

(k) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less provision for doubtful debts. 
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 90 days from the date of recognition.  Collectibility of 
trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off to 
the income statement. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 
Other indicators that determine the trade receivable is impaired is if the party is deemed to be bankrupt. 

The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-
term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The movement in the provision 
is recognised in the income statement.

 (l) Inventories
(i) Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost comprises of direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.  Costs are assigned 
to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are 
determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

(m) Investments and other financial assets

 Classification
The Company classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading which are acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term with the intention of making a profit.

(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They arise when the Company provides money, goods or services directly to a 
debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans 
and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet (note 10).

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that 
are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date.

(iv) Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for 
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive the cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

(v) Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-
for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security 
and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The translation differences are recognised in profit or 
loss and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are 
recognised in equity. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated 
fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the income statement as gains and losses from 
investment securities.

(vi) Fair value
The fair value of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. if the market for a financial asset is not 
active (or for unlisted securities), the Company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These 
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and 
relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

(vii) impairment
The Company assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. in the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether a security 
is impaired. if any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. 
impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are 
not reversed through the income statement.

(n) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement 
or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and 
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. 

  The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price: the appropriate 
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. The fair value of financial instruments that are 
not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. 

 The Company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
at each balance date. quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt 
instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments. 

The carrying amount less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Company for similar 
financial instruments.

(o) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any 
gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or revalued amount, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and Equipment 5%-36%
Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings 5%-20%
motor Vehicles 15%-22.5%
Office Equipment 7.5%-40%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 
included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, it is Company policy to transfer the 
amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings.

(p) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate/business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on 
acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates 
is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is not amortised. instead, goodwill is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is assigned to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those 
cash-generating units represents the Company’s investment in each country of operation by each 
primary-reporting segment (note 16(a)).

(ii) Patents, trademarks and licences
Patents, trademarks and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of patents, 
trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives, which vary from 3 to 20 years.

(iii) Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects 
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when 
it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility and its 
costs can be measured reliably. The expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including 
costs of materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development 
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. development costs 
previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised 
development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset 
is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, which varies from 1 to 3 years.

(q) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

(r) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not incremental costs 
relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the facility.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market interest rate for 
an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until 
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the 
conversion option. This is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or other expenses.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(s) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time 
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the period in which they are 
incurred.

(t) Provisions
 Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. The discount rate used to determine the present value 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of 
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the reporting date.  The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(u) Employee benefits

(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experiences of employee departures and periods of service. 
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Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows.

(iii) Retirement benefit obligations
The amount charged to the income Statement in respect of superannuation represents the contributions made 
by the Group to superannuation funds as nominated by the individual employee.

Contributions made by the Company to employee superannuation funds are charged as expenses when incurred.

(iv) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the XRF Scientific Limited Employee Options 
Plan and an employee share scheme. information relating to these schemes is set out in note 24.

On 31 may 2006 XRF Scientific Limited has issued for nil consideration to officers and employees as part of an 
employee share option plan, a total of 4,000,000 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of 
XRFS that include the following terms:

may be exercised not before 30 June 2006 and expire not later than 30 June 2009;
Options will be exercisable at 20 cents each; 
All options vested immediately on 31 may 2006; and 
Options are unlisted.

This total has reduced to 3,215,116 following the resignation of two employees. The fair value of options granted 
under the Company Employee Option Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for 
the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of 
any non-market vesting conditions (e.g. profitability and sales forecast targets). Non-market vesting conditions 
are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each 
balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become 
exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate.

 Under the employee share scheme, shares issued to employees for no cash consideration vest immediately on 
grant date. On this date, the market value of the shares issued is recognised as an employee benefits expense 
with a corresponding increase in equity.

(v) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or 
when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current 
employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 
12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to present value.

(v) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction from the proceeds. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for 
the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

if the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, e.g. as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are 
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or 
loss and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is 
recognised directly in equity.

(w) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date.

(x) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated goods and services tax (GST), 
unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. in this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables 
in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows.

(y) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the 
year.

  (ii) diluted earnings per share
diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration 
in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.       

(z) Financial guarantee contracts         
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. 
The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in 
accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 
recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate.

(aa) Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control. Associates are accounted 
for in the parent entity financial statements at cost and the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the consolidated income statement reflects 
the Group’s share of associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses and the consolidated balance sheet reflects the 
Group’s share of post-acquisition movements in reserves or equity. The cumulative post-acquisition movements 
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. dividends received from associates are not 
recognised in the parent entity’s income statement but rather reduce the carrying amount of the investment in 
the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

(ab) New accounting standards and interpretations

(i) AASB 8 Operating Segments 

AASB 8 should not result in a significant change in the approach to segment reporting, which requires adoption 
of a ‘management approach’ to reporting on financial performance. The information being reported will be 
based on what the key decision makers use internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding how 
to allocate resources to operating segments.   The standard is not expected to impact on the group’s segment 
reporting significantly, as under the management approach, segments will be disclosed in a similar manner to 
how they are currently. The revised standard will become mandatory for the group’s 2010 consolidated financial 
statements.

(ii) AASB 123 Borrowing Costs

The revised standard has removed the option to expense all borrowing costs and - when adopted - will require 
capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset. The revised standard will remove the group’s current practice option of expensing borrowing 
costs in full. There would have been no impact on the current year results had this policy been adopted and 
future impacts will depend on the future acquisition, construction and production of qualifying assets not yet 
to be undertaken. The revised standard will become mandatory for the group’s 2010 consolidated financial 
statements.

Borrowing costs are now defined to include the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate 
method. As such various components of the definition have been deleted as these are included in the effective 
interest calculation. The revised standard will become mandatory for the group’s 2010 consolidated financial 
statements. There will be no impact as these amendments merely clarify existing practice.

(iii) AASB 3 Business Combinations

The revised standards will include changes such as the requirement to expense all transaction costs in full, 
which are currently included in the cost of the acquisition. The consolidated group has not yet determined 
the potential effect of the revised standard on the consolidated disclosures.  The revised standard will become 
mandatory for the group’s 2010 consolidated financial statements.

(iv) AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 2007-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 101

it requires the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and makes changes to the statement 
of changes in equity, but will not effect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The 
revised standard will become mandatory for the group’s 30 June 2010 consolidated financial statements.  The 
consolidated group has not yet determined the potential effect of the revised standard on the consolidated 
disclosures. 

(v) AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

The revised standard clarifies that changes in ownership interest which result in control being retained are 
accounted for within equity as transactions with owners. Losses will be attributed to the non-controlling interest 
even if this results in a debit balance for the non-controlling interest. investments retained where there has been 
a loss of control will be recognised at fair value at date of sale.  The revised standard will become mandatory for 
the group’s 30 June 2010 consolidated financial statements. The consolidated group has not yet determined the 
potential effect of the revised standard on the consolidated disclosures.
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NOTE 1: SUmmARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POLiCiES continued

Previously, all investments in subsidiaries associates or jointly controlled entities in the separate financial 
statements of the investor, that were classified as held for sale were measured under AASB 5, i.e. at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The change now only permits such investments measured using 
the “cost” method under AASB 127 to be measured under AASB 5.  investments measured using the “fair value” 
method continue to be measured under AASB 139, even if they become classified as held for sale. The revised 
standard will become mandatory for the group’s 30 June 2010 consolidated financial statements.

This amendment will have no impact when this amendment is first adopted because the entity uses the cost 
method under AASB 127 to account for its investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities 
which will continue to be measured under AASB 5.

(vi) AASB 136 impairment of Assets

The revised standard required additional disclosure requirements about discounted cash flow assumptions 
used for the fair value less costs to sell method. The revised standard will become mandatory for the group’s 30 
June 2010 consolidated financial statements. There will be no financial impact when these amendments are first 
adopted because these amendments relate to additional disclosure requirements only.

(vii) AASB 138 intangible Assets

Clarifies that the amortisation method for intangible assets could result in a lower amount of accumulated 
amortisation than under the straight line method. The revised standard will become mandatory for the group’s 
30 June 2010 consolidated financial statements. initial adoption of this amendment will have no impact on 
the group as it will continue to use the straight line basis as the most appropriate amortisation method for 
intangibles.

NOTE 2: FiNANCiAL RiSK mANAGEmENT

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The company’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the financial performance of the Company.

Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of directors. management 
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Company’s operating units. The Board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as 
mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate and credit risks, use of financial instruments and investing excess liquidity.

(a) market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in 
a currency other than the Australian dollar. The currencies giving rise to this risk are predominantly Pounds 
Sterling, Euro and US dollar.

Foreign currency risk arises where settlement of a trade receivable, payable or borrowings is denominated in 
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency, which may result in a foreign currency gain or loss. The 
group seeks to mitigate this risk by engaging in a majority of commercial transactions that are generally in AUd.
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NOTE 2: FiNANCiAL RiSK mANAGEmENT continued

The group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

GBP EUR USd GBP EUR USd

Trade receivables – 122,360 – – – 1,609

Trade payables – 54,187 – 1,196 – 4,057

The parent’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

GBP EUR USd GBP EUR USd

Trade receivables – – – – – –

Trade payables – – – 1,196 – –

Group sensitivity

Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2008, had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 
10% against the exchange rates in the above tables, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s post-tax 
profit for the year would have been $20,742 lower/$25,389 higher (2007:  $660 lower/$778 higher), mainly as 
a result of foreign currency exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign currency denominated financial 
instruments as detailed in the table above.

Parent entity sensitivity

The parent entity’s post-tax profit for the year would have been $Nil lower/$Nil higher (2007: $196 higher/$241 
lower) had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar, mainly as a result of 
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign currency denominated financial instruments as detailed 
in the table above.  

(ii) Price risk
As the group does not have any investments in equities or commodities, it’s exposure to equities price risk and 
commodity price risk is minimal.

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest 
rate risk. The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in 
the financial statements approximates their fair values. 

As at 30 June 2008 the group had no fixed or variable interest rate debt, and therefore consider fair value 
interest rate risk to be minimal. Further details can be found in note 21(d).

As at 30 June 2007 the group had $800,000 in convertible notes issued at a fixed interest rate of 5%. The 
company considered the risk associated with the fixed interest rate to be minimal given it is below the market 
rate for short term debt.
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NOTE 2: FiNANCiAL RiSK mANAGEmENT continued

  Group sensitivity

At 30 June 2008, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end rates with all other 
variables held constant, post tax profit for the year would have been $23,371 lower/higher (2007: $17,261 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents.

Parent entity sensitivity

 The parent entity’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents with variable interest rates.  
At 30 June 2008, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end rates with all other 
variables held constant, post-tax profit would have been $20,604 lower/higher  (2007: $13,507 lower/higher) as a 
result of interest income from these financial assets.

(b) Credit risk
management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit risk 
arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables. The Group trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties. in addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise of cash and cash 
equivalents and available-for-sale financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the default of the 
counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group at the balance sheet date. Bank guarantees 
existed during the prior period, of which details to the Group’s exposure to can be found at note 29(b).

The following table represents the group’s exposure to credit risk:

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 3,626,598 3,679,821 3,428,083 2,647,095 
Trade receivables 3,263,244 2,401,428 – 267
Other receivables (external parties) 17,130 217,261 3,193 –

  6,906,972 6,298,510 3,431,276 2,647,362

            
Credit risk exposure is not significantly different for any of the segments of the group.

details of impaired trade receivables, and trade receivables overdue but not impaired can be found at note 10. 
An analysis of the group’s consolidated trade receivables is as follows:

Current Over 30 
days

Over 60 
days

Over 90 
days

Total

2007 1,428,124 536,677 235,486 201,141 2,401,428

2008 1,780,078 883,317 246,553 353,296 3,263,244
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NOTE 2: FiNANCiAL RiSK mANAGEmENT continued

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of 
bank overdrafts, bank loans, debentures, finance leases and hire purchase contracts.  The below analyses the 
group and parent entity financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the reporting date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  There have 
been no breaches or defaults on the repayment of debt. 

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Financial liabilities & Chattel Mortgages
Less than one year 41,535 154,518 – 47,874
Between 1 and 2 years 38,033 17,954 – – 
Between 2 and 5 years 56,329 22,882 – – 
Over five years – – – –

Total  135,897 195,354 – 47,874

Convertible Notes     
Less than one year – 800,000 – 800,000 
Between 1 and 2 years – – – – 
Between 2 and 5 years – – – – 
Over five years – – – –

Total  – 800,000 – 800,000

Total contractual cash flows 135,897 995,354 – 847,874

(d) Fair value estimation
The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active 
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis; and

Transaction costs are included in the determination of net fair value.

The group did not have access to any undrawn borrowing facilities at either of the 2007 or 2008 reporting dates.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to 
the Group for similar financial instruments.
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NOTE 3: CRiTiCAL ACCOUNTiNG ESTimATES ANd JUdGEmENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 

policy stated in note 1(p). Please refer to note 16 for the details on impairment tests performed on goodwill.

NOTE 4: SEGmENT iNFORmATiON

(a) description of segments

Business segments
The consolidated entity is organised on a global basis into the following divisions by product.

Customised Fusion Machines and Furnace Technology
Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd (AFT) – design, manufacture and service organisation specialising 
in automated fusion equipment.

modutemp Pty Ltd (mOd) – servicing the analytical sector with a range of high temperature test and 
production furnaces.

Platinum Labware
Precious metals Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd (PmE) and Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd (APS) – 
manufactures products for the platinum and platinum alloy markets.

LIBS Instruments
Laser Analysis Technologies Pty Ltd (LAT) – produces and distributes Laser Plasma Spectrometers which are 
used in the analysis of a variety of minerals, chemicals, soils and industrial material such as cement, glass 
and ceramics and base metals.

Chemicals
X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd – produces chemicals, supplying analytical fluxes to scientists for mineralogical 
applications, the cement and steel industries as well as other industries.

Geographical Segments

Australia
The home country of the parent entity which is also the main operating entity. The areas of operation are 
principally Customised Fusion machines and Furnace Technology, Platinum Labware, and Xray Flux Products.

United States of America
XRFS USA inc was incorporated in January 2007 and the last day of official operations was 30 November 2007. 
The operating loss for the entity for the current period was $29,202. 
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NOTE 4: SEGmENT iNFORmATiON continued

 (b) Primary reporting format – business segments

 Customed    Unallocated 
 Fusion machines    Corporate 
 and Furnace Platinum LiBS  and 
2008 Technology Labware instruments Chemicals Eliminations Consolidated 
 $ $ $ $ $ $

Segment revenue
Sales to external  
customers 4,931,141 7,016,601 638,844 2,215,358 (95,740) 14,706,204 
inter-segment sales 100,766 144,973 40,603 438,870 – (725,212)
Total sales revenue 5,031,907 7,161,574 679,447 2,654,228 (95,740) 15,431,416
interest income 13,560 11,842 245 1,149 206,916 233,712
Other revenue/income 37,783 15,436 100 1,201 2,585 57,105

Total external segment  
revenue/income 4,982,484 7,043,879 639,189 2,217,708 113,761 14,997,021

 
Segment result 823,083 1,039,778 (153,422) 719,797 (900,836) 1,528,400

Profit before income tax      1,528,400
income tax expense      (607,793)
Profit attributed to  
minority interest      –

Profit for the year      920,607

Segment assets 2,490,581 3,032,640 639,275 1,667,352 7,825,088 15,654,936

Segment liabilities 1,013,620 816,400 660,031 310,159 (861,409) 1,938,801

Other segment information
Acquisitions of property,  
plant and equipment,  
intangibles and other  
non-current segment assets 138,200 387,553 136,300 87,532 4,404 753,989

depreciation and  
amortisation expense 53,058 54,554 54,246 42,069 20,197 224,124
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NOTE 4: SEGmENT iNFORmATiON continued

 (b) Primary reporting format – business segments

 Customed    Unallocated 
 Fusion machines    Corporate 
 and Furnace Platinum LiBS  and 
2007 Technology Labware instruments Chemicals Eliminations Consolidated 
Restated $ $ $ $ $ $

Segment revenue
Sales to external  
customers 5,704,639 5,483,064 1,096,413 1,648,510 (1,436,431) 12,496,195
Total sales revenue 5,704,639 5,483,064 1,096,413 1,648,510 (1,436,431) 12,496,195
interest income 10,370 56,778 – – 135,074 202,222
Other revenue/income  42,504 38,850 1,579 30,405 481 113,819

Total segment  
revenue/income 5,757,513 5,578,692 1,097,992 1,678,915 (1,300,876) 12,812,236

 
Segment result (496,797) 876,723 46,115 498,226 (347,688) 576,579

Profit before income tax      576,579
income tax expense      (181,921)
Profit attributed to  
minority interest      (280,491)

Profit for the year      114,167

Segment assets 14,704,710 2,685,546 646,517 1,292,537 (4,282,207) 15,047,102

Segment liabilities 3,327,145 1,160,294 529,602 445,280 (2,621,459) 2,862,502

Other segment information
Acquisitions of property,  
plant and equipment,  
intangibles and other  
non-current segment assets 14,704,710 2,685,546 646,517 1,292,537 (4,282,207) 15,047,102

depreciation and  
amortisation expense 55,558 21,661 9,520 40,238 16,589 143,566

impairment of goodwill – – – – 133,416 133,416
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NOTE 4: SEGmENT iNFORmATiON continued

 (c) Notes to and forming part of the segment information

(i) Accounting policies
Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity as disclosed 
in note 1 and accounting standard AASB 114 Segment Reporting.

Segment revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and 
the relevant portion that can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets include all 
assets used by a segment and consist primarily of operating cash, receivables, inventories, property, plant 
and equipment and goodwill and other intangible assets, net of related provisions. While most of these assets 
can be directly attributable to individual segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used jointly by 
segments are allocated based on reasonable estimates of usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade 
and other creditors, borrowings and a provision for employee benefits. Segment assets and liabilities do not 
include income taxes.

(ii) inter-segment transfers
Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced 
on an  “arm’s-length” basis and are eliminated on consolidation.

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 5: REVENUE

From continuing operations

Sales revenue
Sale of goods 14,706,204 12,581,863 30,817 17,149

Other revenue
interest     
    Other Parties 233,712 172,606 206,042 135,074
    Related Parties – 29,617 – – 

Rent recovery 7,857 18,327 – –
management fees – – 360,000 149,091
Sundry and other income 49,248 9,823 550 417

 14,997,021 12,812,236 597,409 301,731
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NOTE 6: CORRECTiON OF ERROR

due to an error in the timing of accounting for the expenses associated with the options issued to directors and 
brokers in the 2006 and 2007 financial years, a restatement of prior period’s income statement and balance sheet 
have been required. An additional provisional expense has also been required for the managing director’s potential 
future bonus.  

The impact of these restatements have been separately identified in the statement of recognised income and 
expenses report and their summary impact is as follows:

(a) The options included in relation to the equity raising undertaken by the group in the 2007 financial year have now 
been fully expensed in that financial year as per the requirement of AASB 2 Share Based Payment. See (e) for further 
details.

(b) The options issued to directors in June 2006, with a one-year vesting period, have now been fully expensed over 
the vesting period in the 2006 and 2007 financial years. A credit of $12,435 was posted to the 30 June 2006  retained 
earnings, and an additional expense of $111,637 reflected in the 30 June 2007 financial year profits.  

(c) An additional expense of $10,820 has been reflected in the 30 June 2007 financial year profits.  This adjustment 
related to a provisional expense for the managing director’s potential future bonus, which is shown in the income 
statement as employee benefits expense.

(d) The above adjustments at (a), (b) and (c) have resulted in a decrease in net profit after tax of $122,457 for the year 
ended 30 June 2007, and an increase of $12,435 in net profit after tax for the year ended 30 June 2006.

(e) As a result of the additional directors and brokers options that were costed to the iPO issued capital has decreased 
by $319,272 and resulted in a restatement from $10,760,443 to $10,441,170 as at 30 June 2008. The restatement 
increased the share payment reserve as per (f ) and decreased issued capital by $319,272.

(f ) in total the share based payment reserve has been restated by $418,475 from $116,835 to $535,310. The 
restatement is a total of the adjustments at (b) of $99,202 plus those at (e) $319,272.

Effect of restatements on earnings per share
The above restatements have resulted in a reduction in the earnings per share for the 2007 financial year previously 
disclosed. Basis earnings per share has reduced from 0.371 to 0.2 cents per share. diluted earnings per share has 
reduced from 0.294 to 0.1 cents per share. Please refer to note 38 for details on the calculation of the revised earnings 
per share amounts.

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 7: EXPENSES

Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following  
specific expenses:

Depreciation
 depreciation 146,035 110,135 12,462 5,894

Amortisation     
 Patents and trademarks 61,991 16,019 4,593 4,835
 Research and development 16,098 17,413 – –

Total amortisation 78,089 33,432 4,593 4,835
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 7: EXPENSES continued         
      
Finance costs     
 interest and finance charges paid/payable 84,013 23,404 47,700 –

Finance costs expensed 84,013 23,404 47,700 –

      
Rental expense relating to operating leases
 minimum lease payments 232,926 205,970 – 10,647

Total rental expense relating to operating leases 232,926 205,970 – 10,647

      
Other administration costs 
 Fair value on investment – (486) – – 
 Share based payments 45,207 140,315 45,207 140,315 
 Exchange losses/(gains) 17,124 (3,872) – – 
      
Impairment losses 
 Loans impaired* – – 60,984 – 
 Financial assets – 133,416 – 133,416

Total impairment losses – 133,416 60,984 133,416

      
Employee superannuation expense 
 Employee superannuation expense 335,917 345,625 38,978 10,715

*The loan impairment losses of $60,984 recorded in the parent entity relate to the  write off of the loan to XRF USA inc
which no longer trades.
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 8: iNCOmE TAX EXPENSE

(a) Income tax expense
Current tax 409,614 238,163 (370,904) (273,459)
deferred tax 83,002 66,997 70,401 116,210
Over provided in prior years 115,177 (123,239) – (15,929)

  607,793 181,921 (300,503) (173,178)

income tax expense is attributable to:
Profit from continuing operations 607,793 181,921 (300,503) (173,178)
Profit from discounted operations – – – –

Aggregate income tax expense 607,793 181,921 (300,503) (173,178)

deferred income tax (revenue) expense  
included in income tax expense comprises:
decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 15) 6,277 64,164 72,123 114,312
(decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 22) 76,725 2,833 (1,722) 1,898

  83,002 66,997 70,401 116,210

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax  
expense to prima facie tax payable
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  
before income tax expense 1,528,400 576,579 (938,154) (914,836)

  1,528,400 576,579 (938,154) (914,836)

 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%)  458,520 *172,973 (281,446) *(274,451)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible  
(taxable) in calculating taxable income:
  Share-based payments 13,549 *71,788 13,549 *71,788 
     Entertainment 1,837 1,635 384 48
  Losses not brought to amount – 10,065 – –
  impairment losses – 40,025 18,295 40,025
    Sundry items 18,710 8,674 (51,285) 5,341

  492,616 305,160 (30,503) (157,249)

Under (over) provision in prior years 115,177 (123,239) – (15,929)

income tax expense/(revenue) 607,793 181,921 (300,503) (173,178)
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 8: iNCOmE TAX EXPENSE continued

*Figures have been revised for 2007 due to the correction of error as disclosed in note 6.

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity
Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting
period and not recognised in net profit or loss but directly
debited to equity:
  Net deferred tax – debited (credited) directly  
  to equity  83,475 (772,830) 83,475 (772,830)

  83,475 (772,830) 83,475 (772,830)

(d) Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset  
has been recognised
Potential tax benefit @ 30% – 10,065 – –

All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian entities.

(e) Tax consolidation legislation
XRF Scientific Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities elected to enter into the tax consolidation 
regime from 1 July 2005. The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 1(f ).

The entities have entered into a tax funding agreement under the which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate 
XRF Scientific Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by XRF Scientific Limited for any 
current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred 
to XRF Scientific Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to 
the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice 
from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may 
also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. The funding 
amounts are recognised as current intercompany receivables or payables.
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 9: CURRENT ASSETS –  
CASh ANd CASh EqUiVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand 226,415 1,575,121 27,900 540,495
deposits at call 3,400,183 2,104,700 3,400,182 2,106,600

  3,626,598 3,679,821 3,428,082 2,647,095

(a) Cash at bank and on hand
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates of between 0.01% to 5.25% (2007: 
0.01% to 4.1%). Cash available for use is as reported above, with no restrictions applicable. 

(b) Deposits at call
Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between no set term and 6 months, depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the company, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. deposits 
at call are subject to interest rates of 7.5% pa (2007: 6.33% pa)

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 10: CURRENT ASSETS –  
TRAdE ANd OThER RECEiVABLES

Trade receivables 3,278,421 2,409,325 – 267
Provision for impairment of receivables (15,177) (7,897) – –

 3,263,244 2,401,428 – 267
Other receivables from: 
Wholly owned entities – – 1,031,032 1,057,962
Other external parties 17,130 217,261 3,193 –

 3,280,374 2,618,689 1,034,225 1,058,229

Past due but not impaired 
Up to 3 months 934,778 588,667 – –
Up to 6 months 353,237 201,142 – –

 1,288,015 789,809 – –

Provision for impairment of receivables
Balance at 1 July (7,897) (1,948) – –
increase in provision during the year (7,280) (5,949) – –

Balance at 30 June (15,177) (7,897) – –

      
(a) Impaired trade receivables
The consolidated entity has recognised a loss of $4,375 (2007: $40,715) and the parent entity has recognised a loss of 
$Nil (2007: $596) in respect of impaired trade receivables during the year ended 30 June 2008. The losses have been 
included as ‘administration expenses’ in the income statement. 
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NOTE 10: CURRENT ASSETS – TRAdE ANd OThER RECEiVABLES continued    

(b) Past due but not impaired
As at 30 June 2008, trade receivables of $1,228,015 (2007: $789,809) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a 
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade 
receivables is on the previous page. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired 
assets and are not past due. Based on the credit history of these classes, it is expected that these amounts will be 
received when due. The group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.

(c) Other receivables
These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Company. 
Other receivables are subject to the same terms as trade receivables. Those terms have been described in Note 1(k).

(d) Effective interest rates and credit risk
information concerning the effective interest rate and credit risk of both current and non-current receivables 
is set out in note 2.
 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 11: CURRENT ASSETS – iNVENTORiES

Raw material and stores      
 – at cost 878,486 691,323 – 15,086 
 – at net realisable value – 50,000 – –
Work-in-progress      
  – at cost 276,747 225,800 – – 
Finished goods     
– at cost 194,788 163,156 – –

 1,350,021 1,130,279 – 15,086

Stock was valued at lower of cost and net realisable value on 30 June 2008.

NOTE 12: OThER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 194,652 102,130 21,398 48,305

 194,652 102,130 21,398 48,305

NOTE 13: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OThER FiNANCiAL ASSETS

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Shares in subsidiaries (note 33) – – 6,251,647 6,251,647
Shares in other corporation (i) – 510,358 – 510,358
Other listed securities – 13,380 – 13,380

 – 523,738 6,251,647 6,775,385

These financial assets are carried at cost. The above shares in subsidiaries are available-for-sale financial assets. 
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NOTE 13: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OThER FiNANCiAL ASSETS continued

(i) Shares in other corporation relates to the company’s investment in Socachim on 1 November 2006 for $500,000 
(3,000,000 shares). On 3 August 2007 XRF Scientific Limited made a company announcement regarding the proposed 
reduction of capital of 3 million shares for Socachim, whic h was finalised on 11 december 2007. due to operational 
and financial reasons, it had been determined that XRF Scientific’s’ interest are best served by Socachim operating 
autonomously, as a commission agent rather than a wholly-owned subsidiary, hence the entity was not consolidated for 
the group as at 30 June 2007.

(ii) The carrying amount of shares in subsidiaries can be compared against the fair value of the goodwill on consolidation 
at note 16(a).

NOTE 14: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT ANd EqUiPmENT

   Furniture 
 Plant & motor Fixtures Office 
Consolidated Equipment Vehicles & Fittings Equipment Total  
 $ $ $ $ $

At 1 July 2006
Cost or fair value 409,295 370,441 15,200 144,868 939,804
Accumulated depreciation (157,927) (161,719) (11,241) (120,870) (451,757)

Net book amount 251,368 208,722 3,959 23,998 488,047

Year ended 30 June 2007
Opening net book amount 251,368 208,722 3,959 23,998 488,047
Additions 434,439 – 9,309 81,026 524,774
Additions through acquisition of entities  
(note 32) 15,537 – – – 15,537
disposals (53,887) (115,900) – (3,612) (173,399)
depreciation charge (37,151) (54,209) (1,534) (17,241) (110,135)

Closing net book amount 610,306 38,613 11,734 84,171 744,824

At 30 June 2007
Cost or fair value 823,822 81,608 24,509 222,233 1,152,172
Accumulated depreciation (213,516) (42,995) (12,775) (138,062) (407,348)

Net book amount 610,306 38,613 11,734 84,171 744,824

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 610,306 38,613 11,734 84,171 744,824
Additions 326,036 30,726 159,706 34,023 550,491
disposals (213,166) (725) (294) (6,263) (220,448)
depreciation charge (82,699) (11,011) (22,772) (29,553) (146,035)

Closing net book amount 640,477 57,603 148,374 82,378 928,832

At 30 June 2008
Cost or fair value 863,539 110,697 195,323 213,336 1,382,895
Accumulated depreciation (223,062) (53,094) (46,949) (130,958) (454,063)

Net book amount 640,477 57,603 148,374 82,378 928,832

      
All items of property, plant and equipment were recorded at cost as at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.  The cost 
values of all items are not considered to be materially different to their fair values.
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NOTE 14: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT ANd EqUiPmENT continued

   Furniture 
 Plant & motor Fixtures Office 
Parent Equipment Vehicles & Fittings Equipment Total  
 $ $ $ $ $

At 1 July 2006
Cost or fair value 10,974 – – – 10,974
Accumulated depreciation (2,934) – – – (2,934)

Net book amount 8,040 – – – 8,040

Year ended 30 June 2007
Opening net book amount 8,040 – – – 8,040
Additions 43,637 – – – 43,637
disposals (1,970) – – – (1,970)
depreciation charge (5,864) – – – (5,864)

Closing net book amount 43,843 – – – 43,843

At 30 June 2007
Cost or fair value 52,641 – – – 52,641
Accumulated depreciation (8,798) – – – (8,798)

Net book amount 43,843 – – – 43,843

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 43,843 – – – 43,843
Additions 3,505 – – – 3,505
disposals – – – – –
depreciation charge (12,462) – – – (12,462)

Closing net book amount 34,886 – – – 34,886

At 30 June 2008
Cost or fair value 56,054 – – – 56,054
Accumulated depreciation (21,168) – – – (21,168)

Net book amount 34,886 – – – 34,886

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ $ $ $

(a) Leased assets
Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts  
where the consolidated entity is a lessee under a finance lease:

Plant and equipment
Cost 112,224 165,000 – – 
Accumulated depreciation* (17,941) (30,301) – – 
Motor vehicles     
Cost 92,238 61,512 – –
Accumulated depreciation** (34,612) (25,651) – –

Net book amount 151,909 170.560 – –
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NOTE 14: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT ANd EqUiPmENT continued

*depreciation expense of $12,641 was recorded to the income statement during the 2008 financial year (2007: 
$14,352).
**depreciation expense of $8,961 was recorded to the income statement during the 2008 financial year (2007: 
$3,754).

(b) Non-current assets pledged as security    
Refer to note 21 (a)  for information on non-current assets pledged as security by the parent entity and its controlled 
entities.

(c) Assets in the course of construction     
Carrying amounts of the assets disclosed above include $116,118 (2007: Nil) relating to plant and equipment which is 
in the course of construction.

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 15: dEFERREd TAX ASSETS

The balance comprises temporary differences  
attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Employee benefits 199,666 120,983 60,550 –

Amounts recognised directly in equity
Share issue expenses 352,817 578,264 352,817 578,264

Other
depreciation of tangible assets 11,921 1,952 – –
Accruals 30,851 48,620 30,249 41,250
Provisions 3,726 2,315 – –
Other 54,836 254 11,735 254

 101,334 53,141 41,984 41,504

Net deferred tax assets 653,817 752,388 455,351 619,768

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 752,388 92,187 619,768 11,250
Charged to the income statement  
(note 8) (6,277) (64,164) (72,123) (114,312)
Credited/(charged) to equity (92,294) 722,830 (92,294) 722,830 
Acquisition of subsidiary – 1,535 – –

Closing balance at 30 June 653,817 752,388 455,351 619,768

* The deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses does not exceed taxable amounts arising from the reversal 
of existing assessable temporary differences.

NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



55

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

NOTE 16: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – iNTANGiBLE ASSETS
    Patents 
  Research &  trademarks & 
Consolidated  development Goodwill other rights Total  
  $ $ $ $

At 1 July 2006
Cost or fair value 43,324 4,980,382 287,158 5,310,864
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (21,662) (140,000) (10,691) (172,353)

Net book amount 21,662 4,840,382 276,467 5,138,511

Year ended 30 June 2007
Opening net book amount 21,662 4,840,382 276,467 5,138,511
Additions 53,568 324,902 11,776 390,246
Amortisation charge* (21,998) – (11,526) (33,524)

Closing net book amount 53,232 5,165,284 276,717 5,495,233

At 30 June 2007
Cost or fair value 96,892 5,305,284 301,934 5,704,110
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (43,660) (140,000) (25,217) (208,877)

Net book amount 53,232 5,165,284 276,717 5,495,233

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 53,232 5,165,284 276,717 5,495,233
Additions 166,608 – 36,890 203,498
Amortisation charge* (61,991) – (16,098) (78,089)

Closing net book amount 157,849 5,165,284 297,509 5,620,642

At 30 June 2008
Cost or fair value 263,501 5,305,284 338,824 5,907,609
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (105,652) (140,000) (41,315) (286,967)

Net book amount 157,849 5,165,284 297,509 5,620,642

* Amortisation of $78,089 (2007: $33,524) is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the income 
statement.
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NOTE 16: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – iNTANGiBLE ASSETS continued
    Patents 
  Research &  trademarks & 
Parent  development Goodwill other rights Total  
  $ $ $ $

At 1 July 2006
Cost or fair value – – 100,030 100,030
Accumulated amortisation and impairment – – (3,334) (3,334)

Net book amount – – 96,696 96,696

Year ended 30 June 2007
Opening net book amount – – 96,696 96,696
Additions – – – –
Amortisation charge  – – (4,835) (4,835)

Closing net book amount – – 91,861 91,861

At 30 June 2007
Cost or fair value – – 100,030 100,030
Accumulated amortisation and impairment – – (8,169) (8,169)

Net book amount – – 91,861 91,861

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount – – 91,861 91,861
Additions – – – –
Amortisation charge  – – (4,593) (4,593)

Closing net book amount – – 87,268 87,268

At 30 June 2008
Cost or fair value – – 100,030 100,030
Accumulated amortisation and impairment   (12,762) (12,762)

Net book amount – – 87,268 87,268

(a) Impairment charge
Goodwill is allocated to the consolidated entity’s cash generating units (CGU’s) identified according to business 
segment. A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below. 
                             
                                                                                                                                  Consolidated    Parent Entity
  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ $ $ $

Customised Fusion machines and Furnace Technology 1,980,171 1,980,171 – – 
Platinum Labware 776,456 776,456 – – 
LiBS instruments 363,314 363,314 – – 
Chemicals 1,038,039 1,038,039  
Eliminations and unallocated 1,007,304 1,007,304 – –

 5,165,284 5,165,284 – –

    
Eliminations and unallocated goodwill relates to unallocated corporate assets and activities that benefit the specific 
reportable segments identified.
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NOTE 16: NON-CURRENT ASSETS – iNTANGiBLE ASSETS continued

(b) Key assumptions used for fair value less costs to sell calculations
The recoverable amount of a CGU is predominantly determined based on fair value less cost to sell calculations. These 
calculations use EBiT multipliers that are reflective of current market prices being achieved on the sale of businesses 
in similar industries.  management has determined that the EBiT profit figures used in these calculations will be 
sustainable into the foreseeable future.

(c) Impact of possible changes in key assumptions
if the EBiT multiplier factors used decrease, the recoverable amount of goodwill would be reduced. management 
does not believe there will be any changes to the EBiT multipliers great enough to reduce the goodwill beyond it’s 
current carrying amount. management does not consider a change in any of the other key assumptions to be a 
reasonablly possible.

(d) Impairment charge
There were no impairment charges to goodwill recorded in the year ended 30 June 2008. The balance of the 
accumulated goodwill impairment at 30 June 2008 was recorded during the year ended 30 June 2006 and was related 
to a single entity within the LiBS business segment. The impairment charge arose as a result of a new product launch 
that did not achieve the desired sales goals. 
 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 17: CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – TRAdE ANd OThER PAYABLES

Trade payables 551,101 857,251 160,850 27,464
Sundry creditors and accruals 403,449 375,850 144,929 115,949
Other payables to:
– controlled entities – – 1,034,603 687,054
– related entities – – – 8,283

 954,550 1,233,101 1,340,382 838,750

Terms and conditions of trade payables vary between suppliers, however terms of trade are generally 30 days.

     
 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 18: CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – BORROWiNGS

Secured
Finance lease liabilities (note 30 (ii)) 29,323 73,704 – 47,874
Chattel mortgage liability 12,213 80,813 – –

Total secured current borrowings 41,536     154,517 – 47,874

Unsecured
Convertible notes – 770,604 – 770,604

Total unsecured current borrowings –  770,604 – 770,604

Total current borrowings 41,536 925,121 – 818,478

NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



58

NOTE 18: CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – BORROWiNGS continued 

(a) Interest rate exposure
details of the Company’s exposure to interest rate changes on borrowings are set out in note 21(d).

(b) Fair value disclosures
details of the fair value of borrowings for the Company are set out in note 21.

(c) Convertible notes
The parent entity issued 800,000 5% convertible notes for $800,000 on 12 June 2007. The notes are convertible 
into ordinary shares of the parent entity, at the option of the holder, or repayable on 12 June 2008. The number of 
ordinary shares to be issued for each convertible note will be determined by dividing the issue price of the note ($1) 
by the lesser of $0.125 (the market price per share at the date of issue of the notes and the market price per share at 
the settlement date. The convertible notes are presented in the balance sheet as follows:

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Face value of notes issued – 800,000 – 800,000
Other equity securities – value of conversion rights – (29,396) – (29,396)

Net value of notes issued – 770,604 – 770,604
interest expense* 40,000 – 40,000 –
interest paid (40,000) – (40,000) –

Non-current liability – 770,604 – 770,604

$40,000 in interest expense has been paid for the year ended 30 June 2008 when the convertible notes were 
redeemed by the holder AGR mathey on 5 June 2008. The effective interest rate on the convertible notes was 9%.
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 19: CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – PROViSiONS

Employee benefits – annual leave and bonuses 471,556 253,074 198,398 10,820
making good of leases 5,000 – 5,000 –

 476,556 253,074 203,298 10,820

Movements in provision for making good of leases:
Opening balance at 1 July – – – –
Charged to the income statement  5,000 – 5,000 –

Closing balance at 30 June 5,000 – 5,000 –

(a) Making good of leases provision
 XRF Scientific Limited is required to restore leased premises to their original condition at the end of the respective 
lease terms. A provision has been recognised for the present value of the estimated expenditure required for general 
repairs to premises. All amounts provided for have been expensed in full through the income statement as occupancy 
expenses.

NOTE 20: CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – OThER FiNANCiAL LiABiLiTiES

Customer deposits 197,036 75,806 – –

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 21: NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – BORROWiNGS

Secured
Finance lease liabilities (note 30) 46,055 40,835 – –
Chattel mortgage liability 48,307 – – –

Total secured non-current borrowings 94,362 40,835 – –

Total non-current borrowings 94,362 40,835 – –

(a) Assets pledged as security
Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statements 
revert to the lessor in the event of default.

The chattel mortgage is effectively secured as the rights to the assets acquired under the chattel mortgage revert 
to the lendor in the event of default.

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are:
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NOTE 21: NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – BORROWiNGS continued

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Non-current

Finance lease liabilities
Plant and equipment 42,192 90,000 – – 
motor vehicles 57,626 35,861 – –

Chattel mortgage liability     
Plant and equipment 52,091 44,699  
motor vehicles – – – –

Total assets pledged as security 151,909 170,560 – –

(b) Finance lease liabilities
Refer to note 30(b)(ii).

(c) Chattel mortgage liability
There are minor chattel mortgage liabilities amongst members of the group, which were undertaken for the purchase 
of various pieces of Plant & Equipment.

(d) Interest rate risk exposures
interest rate risk exposures to the consolidated entity are minimal as all interest-bearing debt incurs interest 
at a fixed rate. interest rates being incurred on consolidated entity liabilities are as follows:

Liability Rate Expiration

Finance leases 8.475% Feb 2011
Chattel mortgage 7.9% April 2010

(i) Fair value of borrowings 
 2008 2007

  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
  Amount Value Amount Value 
  $ $ $ $

On-balance sheet non-traded financial liabilities
Consolidated
Finance lease liabilities (note 30) 75,378 75,378 114,539 114,539
Chattel mortgage liability 60,520 60,520 80,814 80,814
Convertible notes – – 770,604 770,604

Total 135,898 135,898 965,957 965,957

Parent     
Finance lease liabilities  – – 47,874 47,874 
Convertible notes – – 770,604 770,604

Total – – 818,478 818,478

None of the classes are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form. Fair value is inclusive of costs which 
would be incurred on settlement of a liability.
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NOTE 21: NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – BORROWiNGS continued

(i) On-balance sheet
The fair value of borrowings is based upon market prices where a market exists or by discounting the expected future 
cash flows by the current interest rates for liabilities with similar risk profiles.

(ii) Off-balance sheet
There were off-balance sheet liabilities for the years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007 - refer to note 30.

The Company has potential liabilities which may arise from certain contingencies disclosed in notes 29 and 31.

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 22: NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES  
– dEFERREd TAX LiABiLiTiES

The balance comprises temporary differences  
attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Research and development 24,321 – – –
depreciation 55,237 2,833 176 1,898

 79,558 2,833 – 1,898

Amounts recognised directly in equity
Equity component of convertible notes (note 24(b)) – 8,819 – 8,819

 – 8,819 – 8,819

 
Net deferred tax liabilities 79,558 11,652 176 10,717

Movements:

Opening balance at 1 July 11,652 – 10,717 –
Charged/(credited) to the income statement  
(note 8) 76,725 2,833 (1,722) 1,898
Charged/(credited) to equity (note 24(b)) (8,819) 8,819 (8,819) 8,819

Closing balance 30 June 79,558 11,652 176 10,717

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 23: NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES – PROViSiONS

Employee benefits – long service leave 238,618 206,528 4,950 –
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NOTE 24: CONTRiBUTEd EqUiTY
 Consolidated and Consolidated and 
 Parent Entity Parent Entity

 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007  
     Restated 
  Shares Shares $ $

(a) Share Capital
Ordinary shares fully paid (c),(e) 91,611,683 70,958,762 10,894,963 10,420,593

Total contributed equity  91,611,683 70,958,762 10,894,963 10,420,593

     
(b)     Other equity securities

Value of conversion rights –
convertible notes    – 29,396
deferred tax expense    – (8,819)

    – 20,577

Total consolidated contributed equity    10,894,963 10,441,170

    
Effective 1 July 1998 the corporations legislation abolished the concept of authorised capital and par value of shares.  
Accordingly these are not disclosed.

(c) Movements in ordinary share capital:

Consolidated  Number of 
date details shares issue Price $

01/07/2006 Opening Balance 44,593,418  7,317,282
20/10/2006 Share issue at initial public offering 22,818,000 0.20 4,563,600
23/10/2006 Share issue to vendors at initial public offering 1,500,000 0.20 300,000
30/10/2006 Share issue to vendors at initial public offering 200,000 0.20 40,000
01/11/2006 Share issue for acquisition of Socachim 3,000,000 0.17 500,000
08/11/2006 Share issue to vendors at initial public offering 100,000 0.20 20,000
21/11/2006 Share issue to vendors at initial public offering 250,000 0.20 50,000
12/12/2006 Share issue to vendors at initial public offering 20,000 0.20 4,000 
31/12/2006 Share issue costs   (2,094,033)
15/03/2007 Share issue to vendors at initial public offering 456,360 0.20 91,272
08/06/2007 Share buy back (1,979,016) 0.19 (371,527)
29/06/2007 Value of net conversion rights on convertible note   20,577   ____________  ____________ 
 Closing balance 70,958,762  10,441,170

08/11/2007 Rights issue 23,652,921 0.05 1,182,646 
11/12/2007 Share cancellation  (3,000,000) 0.17 (500,000) 
31/12/2007  Share issue costs (net of deferred income tax)   (228,853)   ____________  ____________
30/06/2008 Closing balance 91,611,683  10,894,963  ____________  ____________
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NOTE 24: CONTRiBUTEd EqUiTY continued

(d) Movements in 7% non-redeemable participating preference share capital:

Consolidated  Number of issue Price 
date details shares $ $

30/06/2006 Closing balance 2,463,334 0.12 295,600
20/10/2006 Conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares (2,463,334) 0.12 (295,600)  ____________  ____________

30/06/2008 Closing balance –  –  ____________  ____________

(e) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company 
in proportion to the number of and amount paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one 
vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

(f) Other equity securities
The amount shown for other equity securities is the value of the conversion rights relating to the 5% convertible 
notes, details of which are shown in note 18(c).

(g) Dividend reinvestment plan
The parent entity has adopted but not yet commenced operations of a dividend Reinvestment Plan to provide 
its shareholders with the choice of reinvesting some or all of their dividends in shares (without the usual share 
acquisition costs) rather than receiving those dividends in cash. The actual issue price of shares under the 
dividend Reinvestment Plan will be determined by the directors at their sole discretion.

(h) Employee share option plan
The parent entity has adopted an employee Share Option Plan for a three year period beginning 22 August 2005, the 
objectives of which are to provide an incentive and reward eligible employees for their contributions to the parent 
entity and establish a method by which eligible employees can participate in the future growth and profitability of 
the parent entity. As the plan expired on 22 August 2008, the Board is currently reviewing whether or not it should 
be renewed. Each option will be free of consideration and entitle the holder to one share to be issued once an 
application is received and approved by the Board. All shares issued upon the exercise of an option will be ranked 
equally with the parent entity’s then issued shares. An option may not be exercised within one year from the date 
of issue. Any options issued under the Share Option Plan automatically lapse, unless otherwise determined by the 
Board, upon cessation of employment with the parent entity, except for reasons of retirement or redundancy.

The Board shall set aside such number of ordinary shares as it determines for the purposes of the Share Option 
Plan. The Board shall not offer or issue options to any employee if the total number of shares the subject of the 
options, together with:

– the number of shares which would be issued should each outstanding offer or option made or acquired pursuant 
to the Share Option Plan or any other employee or executive share plan be accepted or exercised; and

– the number of shares issued during the previous five years pursuant to the Share Option Plan or any other 
employee or executive share plan;

exceeds five percent of the parent entity’s shares issued.

The Board has absolute discretion regarding:

– the employees to whom shares and options shall be offered;
– the number of shares and options that may be issued to those employees;
– the exercise price of the options, provided that the exercise price is not less than the average market price on 

ASX on the five trading days prior to the day the Board resolves to grant the options; and
– any performance criteria that may apply.
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NOTE 24: CONTRiBUTEd EqUiTY continued

(h) Employee share option plan continued
Options may not be offered to a director except where approval is given by the shareholders of the parent entity 
in general meeting. The Share Option Plan may not be amended without the prior approval of the parent entity, by 
way of a general meeting, or by ASX if required. The Share Option Plan may be terminated at any time by resolution 
of the Board.

As of 30 June 2008, 3,215,116 (2007: 4,000,000) options were outstanding under the Share Option Plan, the detail 
of which has been provided in note 36. The amount of options has been reduced since 2007 due to employees who 
have not met the conditions of the employee share option plan.

(i)    Share cancellation
Please see note 13 for details.

(j)    Rights issue
On 8 November 2008 the company complete a non-renouncable 1 for 3 rights issue of 23,652,921 ordinary shares for 
5c raising a total of $1,182,646 before costs.  The funds were raised for working capital purposes. 

(k)   Managing Director options
As per AGm resolution number four, 3,000,000 million options excercisable at 16c were issued to the managing 
director. The options are due to expire on 31 October 2010.

(l)   Capital risk management
The Group’s and the parent entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 25: RESERVES ANd RETAiNEd PROFiTS/(ACCUmULATEd LOSSES)

(a) Reserves
Share-based payments reserve* 580,517 535,310 580,517 535,310
Foreign currency translation reserve – 180 – –

 580,517 535,490 580,517 535,310
Movements:

Share-based payments reserve

Balance 1 July*   535,310 12,565 535,310 12,565
Option expense
Employee shares options 45,207 140,315 45,207 140,315
Consultant share options – 382,430 – 382,430

Balance 30 June 580,517 535,310 580,517 535,310

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance 1 July 180 – – –
Currency translation experience arising during the year (180) 180 – –

Balance 30 June – 180 – –

 

(b) Retained profits/(Accumulated Losses)
movements in retained profits/(losses) were as follows:
Balance 1 July 1,207,940 1,106,747 (997,161) (247,934)
Adjustment for minority interest on opening balance – 206,649 – –
Net profit/(loss) for the year 920,608 114,168 (637,651) (741,658)
dividends – (219,624) – (7,569)

Balance 30 June 2,128,548 1,207,940 (1,634,812) (997,161)

     
*The balance of share payment reserves has been restated from 2007 figures after it was identified that additional 
amounts were required to be costed to both equity and the income statement during that year.  Amounts recognised 
to equity related to the iPO, while amounts recorded to the income statement related to employee options. Please 
refer to note 6 for further details on additional amounts recognised to the income statement.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not exercised.

Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency 
translation reserve, as described in note 1(d). The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is 
disposed of.
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 26: diVidENdS

(a) Ordinary shares
There were no dividends issued to ordinary shareholders  
for the years ending 30 June 2008 and 2007.

(b) 7% non-redeemable participating  
Preference shares
Final dividend of 0.0028 cents 
for the period of 01/07/06 - 30/10/06 – (7,569) – (7,569)
dividend paid to minority interest – (212,055) – –

Total dividends provided for or paid – (219,624) – (7,569)

NOTE 27: KEY mANAGEmENT PERSONNEL

(a) Directors
The following persons were directors of XRF Scientific Limited during the financial year:

(i) Non-Executive
 Paul Anthony Rengel Chairman
 Kenneth Peter Baxter Non Executive director

(ii) Executive
 david Brown Executive director X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd
 John Graham Parsons Executive director modutemp Pty Ltd  
 Terry Sweet Executive director XRF Scientific Limited

(b) Other Key Management Personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Name Position Employer

Gino manfredi General manager Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd
Stephen Prosser General manager Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd
Allen Parsons General manager Precious metals Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd
dr Bruce Chadwick General manager Laser Analysis Technologies Pty Ltd
Kiran Badlani Chief Financial Officer XRF Scientific Limited

All of the above persons were also key management persons during the year ended 30 June 2007.
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NOTE 27: KEY mANAGEmENT PERSONNEL continued

(c) Key management compensation
  Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Short-term employee benefits 841,005 1,070,814 260,736 222,333 
Superannuation guarantee contributions 196,352 90,943 21,182 19,247
Long-term benefits 17,345 93,284 2,124 265
Share-based payments 45,207 74,315 45,207 52,806

 1,099,909 1,329,356 329,249 294,651

No other post employment or termination benefits have been provided.     
      
(d) Equity Instruments

Option holdings
 details of options and rights held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel and their related 
parties are as follows:

(i) The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director 
of XRF Scientific Limited and other key  management personnel of the Group.

       Total Total 
  Granted as    Total vested and vested and 
 Balance at compen- Options Other Balance at vested at exercisable at unexercisable 
Name 1 July 2007 sation Exercised Changes 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 at 30 June 2008

Directors of  
XRF Scientific Limited
Paul Anthony Rengel 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 500,000 –
Kenneth Peter Baxter 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 500,000 –
david Brown 601,744 – – – 601,744 601,744 601,744 –
John Graham Parsons 697,674 – – – 697,674 697,674 697,674 – 
Terry Sweet – 3,000,000 – – 3,000,000 – – –

Other key management  
personnel of the Group
Stephen Prossor 392,442 – – – 392,442 392,442 392,442 – 
Gino manfredi – – – – – – – – 
Kiran Badlani – – – – – – – – 
dr Bruce Chadwick – – – – – – – – 
Allen Roland Parsons 523,256 – – – 523,256 523,256 523,256 –

Total 3,215,116 3,000,000 – – 6,215,116 3,215,116 3,215,116 –
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NOTE 27: KEY mANAGEmENT PERSONNEL continued

(d) Equity Instruments continued
       Total Total 
  Granted as    Total vested and vested and 
 Balance at compen- Options Other Balance at vested at exercisable at unexercisable 
Name 1 July 2006 sation Exercised Changes 30 June 2007 30 June 2007 30 June 2007 at 30 June 2007

Directors of  
XRF Scientific Limited
Paul Anthony Rengel 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 500,000 –
Kenneth Peter Baxter 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 500,000 –
david Brown 601,744 – – – 601,744 601,744 601,744 –
John Graham Parsons 697,674 – – – 697,674 697,674 697,674 – 
Terry Sweet – – – – – – – –
Peter higgins 392,442 – – – 392,442 392,442 392,442 – 
Jorg Georg hubert metz 392,442 – – – 392,442 392,442 392,442 –

Other key management  
personnel of the Group
Stephen Prossor 392,442 – – – 392,442 392,442 392,442 – 
Gino manfredi – – – – – – – – 
Kiran Badlani – – – – – – – – 
dr Bruce Chadwick – – – – – – – – 
Allen Roland Parsons 523,256 – – – 523,256 523,256 523,256 –

Total 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 –

Shareholdings
details of equity instruments (other than options and rights) held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key 
management personnel and their related parties are as follows:

(ii) The numbers of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of XRF Scientific Limited 
and other key management personnel of the Group. There were no  shares granted during the reporting period as 
compensation. 

   Received on 
  Granted as exercise of 
 Balance at compen- of options Other Balance at 
Name 1 July 2007 sation or rights changes 30 June 2008

Directors of XRF Scientific Limited
Paul Anthony Rengel 228,180 – 76,060 – 304,240
Kenneth Peter Baxter 10,000 – 3,334 – 13,334
david Brown1 6,900,036 – 3,338,442 – 10,238,478
John Graham Parsons2 7,500,000 – 2,500,000 (2,500,000) 7,500,000 
Terry Sweet 38,000 – 2,986,273 20,000 3,044,273

Other key management  
personnel of the Group 
Steve Prosser3 4,522,502 – 550,000 30,000 5,102,502 
Gino manfredi – – – – – 
Kiran Badlani – – – – – 
dr Bruce Chadwick – – – – – 
Allen Roland Parsons 4,020,984 – 1,293,663 (180,000) 5,134,647

Total 23,219,702 – 10,747,772 (2,630,000) 31,337,474
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NOTE 27: KEY mANAGEmENT PERSONNEL continued

1 includes 2,618,477 shares which are indirectly held by david Brown’s son’s private company.
2 includes 3,500,000 shares which are indirectly held by John Parsons wife Julie Parsons.
3 includes 70,002 shares which are indirectly held by Steve Prosser’s children.

(d) Equity Instruments continued
   Received on 
  Granted as exercise of 
 Balance at compen- of options Other Balance at 
Name 1 July 2006 sation or rights changes 30 June 2007

Directors of XRF Scientific Limited
Paul Anthony Rengel – 228,180 – – 228,180
Kenneth Peter Baxter – – – 10,000 10,000
david Brown 6,900,036 – – – 6,900,036
John Graham Parsons 7,500,000 – – – 7,500,000 
Terry Sweet – – – 38,000 38,000 
Peter higgins 4,512,500    4,512,500 
Jorg Georg hubert metz 9,025,000    9,025,000

Other key management  
personnel of the Group
Stephen Prosser 4,512,500 – – 10,002 4,522,502 
Gino manfredi – – – – – 
Kiran Badlani – – – – – 
dr Bruce Chadwick – – – – – 
Allen Roland Parsons 6,000,000 – – (1,979,016) 4,020,984

Total 38,450,036 228,180 – (1,921,014) 36,757,202

(e) Loans to key management personnel

Loans to key management
(i) details of loans made to directors of XRF Scientific Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, 
including their personally related parties, are set out below.

    Write-downs 
    and 
  interest  allowances  highest 
  paid and  for  indebted- 
 Balance at payable Loan doubtful Balance at ness during 
 1 July 2007 on loan Repayment debts 30 June 2008 the year 
Name $ $ $ $ $ $

– – – – – – –

     
    
  interest    highest 
  paid and    indebted- 
 Balance at payable Loan Share Balance at ness during 
 1 July 2006 on loan Repayment Buyback 30 June 2007 the year 
Name $ $ $ $ $ $

Allen Parsons 423,102 29,617 (81,192) (371,527) – –

 Loans outstanding during the prior year were unsecured and repayable on demand. interest was payable on the 
loans at 7%.

 There were no other loan transactions with other Key management personnel or their related parties.
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NOTE 27: KEY mANAGEmENT PERSONNEL continued

(f) Other transactions with key management personnel

Consulting Services
 The Chairman, Paul Anthony Rengel, provided specialist consulting services to the group last financial year. These 
services were based upon normal commercial terms and conditions. No fees were paid during the 2008 financial year.
  2008 2007 
  $ $

Consulting services provided by directors recognised as an expense during the year
– Non executive director (Chairman) – 114,894

 – 114,894

Other Goods & Services     
Premises were rented from related entities of General manager of AFT, S Prossor during the financial year. These 
properties were rented on normal commercial terms and conditions, totalling $67,042 (2007: $98,532). $2,056 was 
outstanding at the end of the year, which is an unsecured amount due to be settled in cash.

Premises were rented from a related entity of General manager of PmE, A Parsons during the financial year. These 
properties were rented on normal commercial terms and conditions, totalling $12,000 (2007: $7,272). No amounts 
were outstanding at the end of the year.

Premises were rented from a related entity of director d Brown during the financial year.  These properties were 
rented on normal commercial terms and conditions, totalling $44,000 (2007: $44,000). No amounts were outstanding 
at the end of the year.

inventories were purchased from a related entity of the former General manager LAT (B Chadwick). General manger 
of AFT, S Prosser also has a minority interest in the entity. These purchases were conducted under normal terms and 
conditions, totalling $91,240 (2007: $265,679). No amounts were outstanding at the end of the year.

Crucibles were hired during the financial year from a director’s related entity (d Brown). These hirings were conducted 
under normal terms and conditions, totalling $39,506 (2007: $39,506). No amounts were outstanding at the end of 
the year.

management fees (including book-keeping services) have been paid to a director’s related entity (d Brown) under 
normal terms and conditions, totalling $56,127 (2007: $56,127). 

d Brown is the guarantor on a X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd lease in Osborne Park.

Other Transactions
during the financial year wages were paid in relation to a directors’ d Brown’s son and J Parsons’s son under normal 
terms and conditions, totalling $136,812 (2007: $196,090).

Aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transactions with key management personnel  
of XRF Scientific Limited:
  2008 2007 
  $ $

Amounts recognised as expense
Rent of office building   123,041 98,532
Purchase of inventory   91,240 265,679
hire of crucible   39,506 39,506
management fees   56,127 56,127
Wages paid 136,812 196,090

 446,726 655,934

NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



71

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

NOTE 28: REmUNERATiON OF AUdiTORS

during the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company, 
its related practices and non-related audit firms:
 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ $ $ $

(a) Assurance & other services

BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
Audit and review of financial reports 98,966 – 98,966 – 
Non audit services 102,559 – 102,559 – 
     
Williams Buck     
Audit and review of financial reports – 95,000 – 95,000
due diligence services – 25,000 – 20,000

Total remuneration for audit and other services 201,525 120,000 201,525 115,000

NOTE 29: CONTiNGENCiES

(a) Contingent liabilities
At 30 June 2008, the consolidated entity had no contingent liabilities in respect of claims, contingent considerations, 
associates and joint ventures or any other matters except those guarantees described below.

(b) Guarantees
The parent entity has provided bank guarantees in respect of
 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ $ $ $

metal Lease of subsidiary – – – 1,255,000
Convertible notes of subsidiaries – – – 840,000
Lease of head office – – – 7,800

 – – – 2,102,800

Bank guarantee for metal lease of subsidiary expired on 30 September 2007, 31 december 2007 and 30 June 2008, 
$315,000.
Bank guarantee for the convertible note did not have an expiry date.
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 30: COmmiTmENTS

(a) Capital commitments
The consolidated entity has not entered into any  
commitments to acquire capital at 30 June 2008  
or subsequent to year end.

(b) Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 306,332 165,908 – –
Later than one year but not later than five years 321,636 260,800 – –
Later than five years – – – –

 627,698 426,708 – –

Representing:
Cancellable operating leases 2,580 2,186 – –
Non-cancellable operating leases (i) 625,388 424,522 – –
Future finance charges on finance leases – – – –

 627,968 426,708 – –

(i) Operating leases
X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd has a hire agreement with david and Glenys Brown, entered into on 1st July 2004, for the 
hiring of 5 auralloy crucibles as at cost of $2,992.91 per month.

The initial term of the contract has come to an end, with a new contract being negotiated in August 2008. The new 
contract is no longer based on a fixed monthly price, but a formula which takes into consideration the market price 
of platinum. A rate of 6% on the daily basis on the value of the platinum will be used to calculate the fees paid on an 
ongoing basis. The agreement is for a period of twelve months, which ceases on 8 August 2009.

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Within one year 303,752 163,722 – –
Later than one year but not later than five years 321,636 260,800 – –
Later than five years – – – –

 625,388 424,522 – –

     
The specific terms of each operating lease vary and are on normal commercial terms.
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 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
   Restated  Restated 
  $ $ $ $

NOTE 30: COmmiTmENTS continued

(ii) Finance leases
The Company leases various property, plant and equipment 
with a carrying amount of $99,818 (2007: $125,861)  
under finance leases expiring within 1 year.

Commitments in relation to finance leases  
are payable as follows:

Within one year 34,652 75,704 – 47,874
Later than one year but not later than five years 50,800 42,335 – –
Later than five years – – – –

     
minimum lease payments 85,452 118,039 – 47,874
Future finance charges (10,074) (3,500) – –

Recognised as a liability 75,378 114,539 – 47,874
     
Lease incentives on non-cancellable operating leases
included in lease liabilities – – – –

Total lease liabilities 75,378 114,539 – 47,874
     
Representing lease liabilities:
Current (note 18) 29,323 73,704 – 47,874
Non-current (note 21) 46,055 40,835 – –

 75,378 114,539 – 47,874

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 8.76% (2007: 8.15%). Lease terms vary from between 1-4 
years remaining.
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NOTE 31: RELATEd PARTY TRANSACTiONS

(a) Parent entity
The ultimate parent and controlling entity is XRF Scientific Limited which at 30 June 2008 owns 100% of all 
subsidiaries listed in note 33. At 30 June 2006, the parent entity owned 100% of all subsidiaries except for Analytical 
Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd which was 50% owned by an unrelated third party. Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd 
was accounted for in the financial statements under the equity method of accounting until 100% ownership was 
achieved by the parent (15 June 2007).

(b) Interests in subsidiaries
interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

(c) Key management personnel
disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 27.

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007 
  $ $ $ $

(d) Transactions with related parties (Subsidiaries)
The following transactions occurred with  
related parties:

Sales of goods and services
management fees – – 360,000 149,091

(e) Related party transaction disclosure
The following balances are outstanding at the  
reporting date in relation to transactions  
with related parties:

Current tax payable assumed from wholly-owned  
tax consolidated entities – – 781,836 295,388

Tax losses assumed from wholly-owned tax 
consolidated entities – – 62,383 26,606

Current receivables (tax funding agreement)
      Wholly-owned tax consolidated entities – – 800,551 –

Current payables (tax funding agreement)
      Wholly-owned tax consolidated entities – – 18,715 –

(f) Loans to/from related parties

Loans to subsidiaries
Beginning of the year – – – 233,196
Loans advanced – – – –
Loan repayments received – – – (233,196)
interest charged – – – –
interest received – – – –

End of the year – – – –

No provisions for bad debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been 
recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.
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NOTE 32: BUSiNESS COmBiNATiONS 

(a) Summary of acquisition
On the 1 July 2006, Crucible investments Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of the parent entity purchased control of its associate 
Analytical Platinum Supplied Pty Ltd (APS).

On 13 June 2007 the remaining 50% of the issued share capital of Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd was acquired. 
The acquired business had revenues of $4,559,420 and net profit of $549,811 for the year ending 30 June 2007 of 
which the net profit attributable to the Group was $269,320. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s 
accounting policies described in note 1.

details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration (refer to (b) below):                                                     $

Convertible note issued     600,000

Total purchase consideration    600,000
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (refer to (c) below)    275,098

Goodwill (refer to (c) below and note 1(p)(i))     324,902

(b) Purchase consideration
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Cash consideration*     –

Less: balances acquired
Cash    131,124
Bank overdraft     –

     131,124

inflow of cash     131,124

* Convertible note was issued to purchase the remaining 50% of Analytical Platinum Supplies refer to note 18(c).

NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



76

NOTE 32: BUSiNESS COmBiNATiONS continued

(c) Assets and liabilities acquired
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:
 Acquiree’s 
 carrying Fair 
 amount value  
 $ $

Cash  131,124 131,124
Trade and other receivables  281,435 281,435
inventories  18,415 18,415
Other assets  (61,931) (61,931)
Property, plant and equipment  15,537 15,537
deferred tax asset  1,535 1,535
Trade and other payables  (59,428) (59,428)
Provisions  (51,590) (51,590)

Net assets  275,097 275,097

Net identifiable assets acquired*   275,097

The goodwill is attributable to the high profitability of the acquired business. The fair value of assets and liabilities 
acquired are based on discounted cash flow models. There were no acquisitions during the year ending 30 June 2008.

NOTE 33: SUBSidiARiES

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, and results of the following subsidiaries 
in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(b):

 Entity holding
 Country of Class of 2008 2007 
Name of entity incorporation shares % %

Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
X-Ray Flux Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
Precious metals Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
Crucible investments Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
Laser Analysis Technologies Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
modutemp Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
Analytical Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
XRF USA inc United States of America Ordinary 100 100

The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.    

NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued
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NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

NOTE 34: RECONCiLiATiON OF PROFiT AFTER iNCOmE TAX TO NET CASh FLOW PROVidEd  
BY OPERATiNG ACTiViTiES
 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007  
    Restated Restated 
  $ $ $ $

Profit/(loss) for the year 920,607 394,658 (637,651) (741,658)
depreciation and amortisation 224,124 143,566 17,056 10,669
impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and loans – 133,416 60,984 133,416
Non-cash employee benefits expense  
– share-based payments 45,164 141,285 45,164 141,285
Fair value of adjustment of listed shares – (3,110) – (3,122)
Net (gain) loss on sale of non-current assets 113,512 35,113 864 31
Net exchange differences – 180 – 180
deferred tax expense recognised in equity (92,294) 722,830 (92,294) 722,830 
Fair value of adjustment to borrowings – (29,396) –
Change in operating assets and liabilities,  
net of effects of purchase of Analytical  
Platinum Supplies Pty Ltd 
  (increase) decrease in trade and other debtors (661,685) (6,838) (802,002) 4,791
  (increase) decrease in inventories (219,742) (194,291) 15,086 708
  (increase) decrease in other current asset (92,522) (14,992) 26,907 (75,087)
  (increase) decrease in deferred tax asset 98,571 (660,201) 164,417 (608,518)
  (decrease) increase in trade and other creditors (278,551) (467,739) 153,939 (8,755)
  (decrease) increase in provision for income taxes (147,693) (262,179) 281,796 (283,755)
   (decrease) increase in provision for deferred income tax 67,906 11,652 (10,541) 10,717
  (decrease) increase in other liabilities 121,230 (147,280) – –
  (decrease) increase in other provisions 255,572 254,207 197,529 10,820

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 354,199 50,881 (578,746) (685,448)

NOTE 35: NON-CASh iNVESTiNG ANd  
FiNANCiNG ACTiViTiES

Conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares – 492,667 – 492,667 
Acquisition of assets by assuming directly related liabilities 92,950 – – –

On 10 October 2006, XRF Scientific Limited converted 2,463,334 of $0.12 preference shares with a total value 
of $295,600 to 2,463,334 of $0.20 ordinary shares in preparation for listing of shares on the Australian Stock Exchange.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



78

NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

NOTE 36: ShARE-BASEd PAYmENTS

(a) Employee option plan
For details on options issues to employees being the key management personnel see note 27.

(b) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

 Consolidated Parent Entity

  2008 2007 2008 2007

managing director options (i) 3,000,000 – 3,000,000 –
Consultants options (i) – 5,300,000 – 5,300,000

  3,000,000 5,300,000 3,000,000 5,300,000

(i) For options which were issued during the 2007 and 2008 years they were independently valued using Black-
Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, 
the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying shares the expected dividend yield and 
the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. The model inputs for the options issued  during the year are as 
follows:

  Number   30 June  
  options   2008 
issued to date issued Exercise Price Valuation expense

managing director 21 November 2007  3,000,000 $0.16 $75,000 $45,207

The model inputs used to calculate the valuation of the 3,000,000 options granted were as follows: 
 
Underlying security spot rate in  $0.09 
dividend rate  nil 
Volatility  60% 
Risk free rate   6.42% 
Expiration period (days)  1,073 
Black Scholes Valuation ($ per security)   0.025 

  Number   30 June  
  options   2007 
issued to date issued Exercise Price Valuation expense

Consultants   4,300,000 $0.16 $301,430 $65,837
Consultants 21 November 2006  1,000,000 $0.20 $81,000 $22,320

The model inputs used to calculate the valuation of the  1,000,000 options granted were as follows: 
 
Underlying security spot rate in  $0.205 
dividend rate  nil 
Standard deviation of returns (annualised)   60% 
Risk free rate   6.01% 
Expiration period (years)  2.197 
Black Scholes Valuation ($ per security)   0.081
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NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

NOTE 36: ShARE-BASEd PAYmENTS continued

The model inputs used to calculate the valuation of the  4,300,000 options granted were as follows: 
 
Underlying security spot rate in  $0.20
Volatility  40% to 60%
Cash flow rate  5.75% 
Vesting date  3.8 years 
Expected date and expected life   1 year 
Expected dividends  nil

The below summarises movements in options during the current and past year:

Cateogry Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance at 
start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 

at end of the 
year

$ Number Number Number Number Number Number

Consolidated and parent entity - 2008

Employees 1 June 2006 30 June  
2010

0.20 4,000,000 – – 784,884 3,215,116 3,215,116

Broker/
consultants

28 August  
2006

30 June  
2010

0.16 4,300,000 – – – 4,300,000 4,300,000

Consultants 21 November 
2006

31 January 
2009

0.20 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 1,000,000

managing 
director

23 November 
2007

31 October 
2010

0.16 – 3,000,000 – – 3,000,000 –

Total 9,300,000 3,000,000 – 784,884 11,515,116 8,515,116

Weighted  average exercise price $0.18 $0.16 – $0.20 $0.17 $0.17

Cateogry Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance at 
start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 

at end of the 
year

$ Number Number Number Number Number Number

Consolidated and parent entity - 2007

Employees 1 June 2006 30 June  
2010

0.20 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000 4,000,000

Broker/
consultants

28 August  
2006

30 June  
2010

0.16 – 4,300,000 – – 4,300,000 4,300,000

Consultants 21 November 
2006

31 January 
2009

0.20 – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 1,000,000

Total 4,000,000 5,300,000 – – 9,300,000 9,300,000

Weighted  average exercise price $0.20 $0.17 – – $0.18 $0.18
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NOTES TO ThE ACCOUNTS FOR ThE YEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2008 continued

NOTE 36: ShARE-BASEd PAYmENTS continued

See note 7 for details of share based payments recognised as an expense during 2008 and 2007 in the parent entity 
and consolidated.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 1.94 years 
(2007: 2.81 years)

NOTE 37: EVENTS OCCURRiNG AFTER ThE BALANCE ShEET dATE

After consideration by the Board of the full year final results for the year ended 30 June 2008, along with current 
cash and future budgeted forecast, it has concluded that the Company is in a position to pay a maiden dividend to 
ordinary shareholders of 0.5 cents per share, fully franked.  

The record date for the dividend is 21 October 2008, with the date of payment 28 October 2008.

 Consolidated

 2008 2007 
 Cents Cents  
  Restated 

NOTE 38: EARNiNGS PER ShARE

(a) Basic earnings per share
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the company 1.1 0.2

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the  1.1 0.2
 
 $ $

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculation earnings per share

Profit from continuing operations attributable to   
the ordinary equity holders of the company 920,607 394,658
Profit attributable to minority interest – (280,491)

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 920,604 114,167

 
 Number Number

(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator
in calculating basic earnings per share 90,332,777 74,767,927

Options on issue are not dilutive on the current or prior periods.F
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XRF Scientific Limited and its controlled entities        
ACN 107 908 314

The directors of the company declare that:

1. The financial statements, comprising the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of 
changes in equity, accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of the performance for the year 
ended on that date of the company and consolidated entity.

2. in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable.

3. The remuneration disclosures included in the directors’ report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report), for 
the year ended 30 June 2008, comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

4. The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer as 
required by section 295A.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors and is signed for and on behalf of 
the directors by.

Paul Rengel 
Chairman

Terry Sweet 
managing director

 
dated this 24 day of September 2008

diRECTORS’ dECLARATiON
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AUdiTOR’S REPORT continued
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Additional information (as at 14 August 2008) required by the ASX Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this 
Annual Report is set out below:

SUBSTANTiAL ShAREhOLdiNGS

The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates is as follows:
 Number of  
Shareholder Ordinary Shares

Parsons John Graham and Julie1 7,500,000
d & Gd Brown Nom PL2 7,939,916 

1 Parsons John and Julie are husband and wife, John Graham Parsons is a director.
2 d & Gd Brown Nom PL is a company owned by david Brown and his wife, david Brown is a director.

NUmBER OF OPTiON hOLdERS

Class of Security Number  
 of holders

Options exercisable at $0.20 and expiring on 30 June 2010 6
Options exercisable at $0.16 and expiring on 30 June 2010 5
Options exercisable at $0.20 and expiring on 31 January 2009 2
Options exercisable at $0.16 and expiring on 31 October 2010 1

            
VOTiNG RiGhTS

in accordance with the Constitution of the Company and the Corporations Act 2001(Cth), every member present 
in person or by proxy at a general meeting of the members of the Company has:

•	 on	a	vote	taken	by	a	show	of	hands,	one	vote;	and

•	 on	a	vote	taken	by	a	poll,	one	vote	for	every	fully	paid	ordinary	share	held	in	the	Company

A poll may be demanded at a general meeting of the members of the Company in the manner permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

diSTRiBUTiON OF ShARE ANd OPTiON hOLdERS

 Number of Number of 
 holders of holders of 
distribution of Shares & Options Ordinary Shares   Options

1-1,000 2 –
1,000-5,000 13 –
5,001-10,000 79 –
10,001-100,000 289 –
100,001 and above 130 14

ShAREhOLdER iNFORmATiON
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TOP 20 ShAREhOLdERS

  Number of  Percentage of 
No. Name Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares

1 d & Gd Brown Nom PL1 7,939,916 8.67%
2 Parsons, Allen Roland5 4,777,980 5.22%
3 Seaweir PL2 4,532,500 4.95%
4 Parsons, John Graham3 3,750,000 4.09%
5 Parsons, Julie Ann3 3,750,000 4.09%
6 Countclock PL 3,695,580 4.03%
7 Tzelepis Nom PL 3,280,000 3.58%
8 Sparrow hldgs PL4 2,966,939 3.24%
9 Great Western Cap PL 2,951,811 3.22%
10 metz, Jorg & Carr, Wendy 2,437,500 2.66%
11 Grosvenor Pirie mgnt Ltd 2,204,913 2.41%
12 metz, Jorg 1,938,334 2.12%
13 National Nom Ltd 1,666,666 1.82%
14 higgins P & Prosser S W 1,000,000 1.09%
15 Beachgame PL 1,000,000 1.09%
16 Connaught Sec PL 976,000 1.07%
17 Parisi hldgs PL 888,614 0.97%
18 Parisi hldgs PL 873,213 0.95%
19 intnl Business Network SV 800,000 0.87%
20 higgins, Peter & Gail 762,651 0.83%

 Total 52,192,617 56.97%

1 d & Gd Brown Nom PL is a company owned by david Brown and his wife, david Brown is a director.
2 Seaweir PL is a company associated with Stephen Prossor, General manger of Automated Fusion Technology Pty Ltd.
3 Parsons John and Julie are husband and wife, John Graham Parsons is a director.
4 Sparrow hldgs PL is a company associated with the managing director Terry Sweet
5 Parsons, Allen Roland is the General manager of Precious metals Engineering (WA) Pty ltd.

RESTRiCTEd SECURiTiES

All restricted securities were released from escrow on 31 October 2007, as per the announcement made to the ASX.

ShAREhOLdER iNFORmATiON continued
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UNqUOTEd SECURiTiES

The details of unquoted securities in the Company are as follows:

 Number of Number of 
Class of Security Securities  holders

Options exercisable at $0.20 and expiring on 30 June 2010 3,215,116 6
Options exercisable at $0.16 and expiring on 30 June 2010 4,300,000 5
Options exercisable at $0.20 and expiring on 31 January 2009 1,000,000 2        
Options exercisable at $0.16 and expiring on 31 October 2010 3,000,000 

ON-mARKET BUY BACK

The Company does not have a current on-market buy-back scheme.

iPO OBJECTiVES

The use of cash raised from the iPO in October 2006 is consistent with the initial business objectives.

ShAREhOLdER iNFORmATiON continued
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CORPORATE diRECTORY

diRECTORS

Paul Anthony Rengel (Chairman)
Terry Sweet (managing director)
Kenneth Peter Baxter
david Brown
John Parsons

COmPANY SECRETARY

Vance Stazzonelli

REGiSTEREd OFFiCE

88 Guthrie Street
Osborne Park WA 6017
Tel:  +61 8 9244 9600 
Fax: +61 8 9244 9611

COmPANY AUdiTOR

BdO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
128 hay Street
Subiaco WA 6008

BANKERS

Westpac Banking Corporation
109 St George Terrace
Perth WA 6000

SOLiCiTORS

Steinepreris Paganin
4/16 milligan Street
Perth WA 6000

ShARE REGiSTRY 

Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd
770 Canning highway
Applecross  WA  6153
Tel:  +61 8 9315 2333
Fax: +61 8 9315 2233

WEBSiTE

www.xrfscientific.com

ASX

Company Code: XRF
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